

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Empowerment Strategies for Sustaining Small Business Moving Companies

LeRoy Jr Peter Fontenette Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

LeRoy P. Fontenette Jr.

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Matasha Murrell Jones, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Judith Blando, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Empowerment Strategies for Sustaining Small Business Moving Companies

by

LeRoy P. Fontenette Jr.

MBA, University of La Verne, 1984 BA, University of La Verne 1980

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

The lack of empowerment strategies can cause high employee attrition for small moving company owners and lead to business closures within 5 years. Small moving company owners using effective empowerment strategies can reduce attrition and increase business longevity. Grounded in the transformational theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore empowerment strategies three small moving company owners in California used for sustaining their business beyond 5 years. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and company documents, such as logistics instruments, a combined agreement contract for moving services, and a freight bill. Using thematic analysis, the three themes that emerged were (a) leadership styles, (b) management of the business environment, and (c) business owners' knowledge. A key recommendation for action is for business owners to combine different leadership styles to retain employees. The implications for positive social change include the potential to create employment opportunities in local communities, thus increasing the local economy.

Empowerment Strategies for Sustaining Small Business Moving Companies

by

LeRoy P. Fontenette Jr.

MBA, University of La Verne, 1984 BA, University of La Verne 1980

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my wife and partner, Martha B. Fontenette, Jr. Initially, my doctoral journey was for the pride of our family name. However, this road to success has challenged me, and your words of encouragement have carried me to the finish line. Thank you, Queen, for being on this journey every step of the way and not giving up on me. Thank you for your compassion and understanding throughout this process. A special dedication in loving memory of my parents, LeRoy Sr. and Aristine, my brothers and sisters, especially my brothers Brian and Lester, and sister-in-law Karen, our children Tiffany, Donald, Leah, Brandt, Brittany, Chelsea, and LeRoy III. Thank you for the pep talks, moral support, celebration, and the constant reminders to stay the course. I could not have done this without the "villages" love and kicks in the backside to keep pushing forward. Thank you to my junior high school friends, Michael, and Pinkie Oliver. You both have been a part of this journey, and your candor has been invaluable. Lastly, I respectfully dedicate this doctoral study to my grandchildren, nieces, and nephews, who aspire to walk onward and upward.

Acknowledgments

I would first like to acknowledge and give all praise to God for His favor, grace, and mercy; without Him, I would not have been able to endure the rigor of this academic program. He gave me the strength, put the right people in my path at the right time when times were tough and challenging. Proverb 3:5-6: "Trust in the Lord with all your heart and lean not on your own understanding; in all your ways acknowledge Him, and He shall direct your paths." To my parents, the late LeRoy Sr. and Aristine, for the love and values you instilled in me to pursue this journey. Thank you to my family and friends, who have supported me. It has been a long road. I want to acknowledge my chair, Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley: Wow! There are no words to express my gratitude for your help, support, and the talks along the way in succeeding in this doctoral program. Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Matasha Murrelljones, Dr. Cheryl Lent, and Dr. Judith Blando. Finally, I would like to thank my participants of this study for their willingness to participate and give time to the authentication of this research.

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	3
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	8
	Significance of the Study	9
	Contribution to Business Practice	9
	Implications for Social Change	10
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
	Transactional Leaders	19
	Sustainability: Leadership Strategies	22
	Other Leadership Styles	27
	Leadership in the Workplace	33

Leadership in the Schools	36
Cultural Diversity	37
Change Management: Overcoming Resistance to Change	38
Transition	41
Section 2: The Project	43
Role of the Researcher	43
Participants	45
Research Method and Design	46
Research Method	46
Research Design	47
Population and Sampling	49
Ethical Research.	50
Data Collection Instruments	51
Data Collection Technique	53
Data Organization Technique	56
Data Analysis	56
Reliability and Validity	59
Reliability	60
Validity	61
Credibility	61
Transferability	61
Confirmability	62

Data Saturation	62
Transition and Summary	63
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	64
Introduction	64
Presentation of the Findings.	65
Theme 1: Leadership Styles	66
Theme 2: Management of the Business Environment	71
Theme 3: Owners' Knowledge	72
Implications for Social Change	76
Recommendations for Action	77
Recommendations for Further Research	78
Reflections	79
Conclusion	79
Reference	81
Appendix: Interview Protocol for Small Business Moving Owners	121

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Owners in the small business sector need to understand the importance of employee empowerment strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. Between 2000 and 2019, there were 31.7 million small businesses in the United States, and the small business sector accounted for 65% of net new job creation in that timespan (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2020). The small business sector's significance and contribution to the U.S. economy have led to a need to bridge the ideas between academia and industry. Hence, small business owners understand the relevance of employee empowerment strategies to sustain businesses beyond 5 years.

Background of the Problem

The U.S. moving and storage industry is complex and diverse. The moving and storage industry consists of large corporate organizations and "mom-and-pop" operations. The average survival rate for all small new companies is 2 years, and 44% survive at least 4 years (Galli-Debicella, 2020). There is a need for small business owners to acknowledge and adapt to cultural diversity, change management, and additional leadership strategies (Gendron, 2017; Heifetz et al., 2009). Exploring these factors and additional leadership strategies could improve small business sustainability and allow small businesses to survive beyond 5 years.

The economic security of small businesses directly impacts the health of their communities. Despite increasing leadership research, Klein and Salk (2013) noted a gap in leadership knowledge, specifically succession planning with small business owners.

Small businesses play a large role in the U.S. economy, substantially contributing to job

creation and economic growth (Calopa, 2017). Small businesses accounted for 65% of net new jobs between 2000 and 2019, and 31.7 million small businesses in the United States provide employment opportunities (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2020). Despite this workforce impact on small businesses from 1994 to 2018, 67.6% of new employer establishments survived at least 2 years. The 5-year survival rate in California was 48.8%, which employed 7.1 million people in the private workforce (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2020). Employee empowerment strategies are vital for small business owners to succeed beyond 5 years.

Researchers have studied the various leadership styles that affect small business owners' survivability rate but have not discovered which leadership styles as empowerment strategies improve sustainability. McDowell et al. (2016) noted a distinctive, finite set of resource connections between small business owners' strategic plans, business skills, resource availability, and overall performance. Some small business owners operate with an intimate structure, which resembles the inspirational and inclusive transformational leadership (TL) style (Lam & O'Higgins, 2012). TL style could be one of the employee empowerment strategies small business owners could use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years.

Problem Statement

Small businesses are essential to U.S. economic development because small businesses with less than 250 employees account for 99.9% of all businesses (Fairlie & Fossen, 2021). An estimated 48.8% of new small businesses in the United States fail within the first 5 years (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2020). In 2017, 1 million

businesses opened, 898,000 closed (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2020). From 1994 to 2018, 67.6% of new small businesses survived 2 years or more (U. S. Small Business Administration, 2020). The general business problem was that some small moving company owners lack employee empowerment strategies to sustain their business. The specific business problem was that some small moving company business owners (SMCBOs) lack effective empowerment strategies to sustain their business beyond 5 years.

Purpose Statement

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored the effective empowerment strategies small moving company owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. The target population was three to six experienced SMCBOs in Southern California who successfully employed employee empowerment strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. Understanding the employee empowerment strategies, such as transformational leadership, and combining different leadership styles the SMCBOs used may lead to employment opportunities in Southern California, resulting in increased prosperity in local communities.

Nature of the Study

In this study, I employed the qualitative methodology to explore small moving company business owners' strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. The three available research methodologies are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Benoit et al., 2017). Qualitative researchers focus on commonplace events in their natural settings to understand participants' real-life experiences in an everyday

environment (Ho et al., 2017). The qualitative research method was the most appropriate for this study because the research question focuses on what strategies SMCBOs use to improve the success rate and sustain businesses beyond 5 years. The goal was to explore the SMCBOs' personal experiences and knowledge, not statistical data.

According to Babones (2016), using a quantitative method allows researchers to examine relationships or differences among variables and test associated hypotheses.

There were no quantitative relationships, variables, or hypotheses for testing in the current study. Researchers use quantitative and qualitative methodologies for the mixed methods approach, whereas one process may prioritize the other to analyze data (Doyle et al., 2016). The mixed method approach was not applicable because no quantitative (i.e., statistical) data were analyzed as part of this study.

I chose a multiple case study design for this study. Yin (2018) noted that researchers use the single or multiple case study design to identify and explore current processes or activities impacting a phenomenon. Phenomenology, ethnography, and grounded theory are three designs for qualitative research (Jamali, 2018). According to Cypress (2018), in the phenomenological design, participants share their lived experiences and interpretive meanings of a unique phenomenon. The phenomenological design did not apply to the scope of the current study because I focused on employee empowerment strategies and not the meanings of the participants' personal lived experiences. Ethnography is a qualitative design to identify an entire culture's values and beliefs (Ottrey et al., 2018), which was not the focus of the current study. Finally, the grounded theory design focuses on systematically collecting and analyzing data to

construct theories for explaining phenomena by exploring the data (Baines & Edwards, 2018), which was not the focus of this study. A case study involves investigating one or more real-life cases to capture their complexity and details, focusing on how and why questions (Guetterman & Fetters, 2018; Yin, 2018). A multiple case study design was most appropriate to explore the strategies of three small business moving company owners who have sustained their businesses beyond 5 years.

Research Question

What effective empowerment strategies do small moving company owners use to sustain business beyond 5 years?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to sustain this business beyond 5 years?
- 2. What strategies offered the best results?
- 3. How did you overcome critical challenges in the implementation of this strategy?
- 4. How do you handle the current regulations and challenges to continue sustaining your business?
- 5. What additional information would you like to share about the strategies you used to sustain this business beyond 5 years?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework of this study was TL theory. Downton (1973) created TL theory (as cited in Barbuto & Burbach, 2006), while political sociologist, James MacGregor Burns (1978), introduced the TL framework. Transformational leaders

change and transform people by building relationships, developing followers, influencing positive employee performance, and providing a vision to improve the organization (Barbuto & Burbach, 2006). Through the strength of their vision and personality, transformational leaders can instigate inspirational motivation in their followers to help them achieve personal and organizational goals. TL is a style of leadership that involves a change (Money, 2017). The elements characterizing TL and the leader-follower relationship for this framework are (a) idealized influence, measured on two components: attributional and behavior; (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized consideration (Khan et al., 2019). As part of leadership strategies, the four TL elements could be used to motivate followers to work together toward common goals, helping sustain the business beyond 5 years.

Operational Definitions

Charisma leadership: A personal charm or a "gift of grace" that helps one to influence, inspire, and lead others (Tokbaeva, 2021).

Entrepreneurial perception: Perception that involves personal beliefs and opinions about entrepreneurship that impact the decision to participate in entrepreneurial endeavors (Murray & Crammond, 2020).

Leader-follower relationship: This relationship expresses the interaction between the leader and follower. This interaction is significant for both parties and can take on multiple forms (i.e., servant, transactional, or transformational: Al-Awlaqi et al., 2021).

Micro-sized businesses: A minimal type of company with less than nine employees (Osakwe & Anaza, 2018).

Transformational leader: A style of leadership in which the leader positively impacts followers' performance and influences the follower to rise above their self-interests through engagement, inspiration, and empowerment (Xu et al., 2021).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

In the following subsections, I discuss the study's assumptions, limitations, and delimitations to explain the research scope. These three factors may include circumstances that could have restricted the methodology and data analysis.

Assumptions

Assumptions are responses taken for granted and presumed accurate but not verified (Kirkwood & Price, 2013). Assumptions are beliefs that researchers hold to be accurate and sometimes not supported by facts; however, they contribute to the study's development (Ellis & Levy, 2009; Turner & Endres, 2017). I assumed that the semistructured participant interviews would allow the ability to gather sufficient data. Researchers use semistructured interviews to collect in-depth data (Rosales & Whitlow, 2019). Another assumption was that the qualitative methodology was appropriate to explore strategies SMCBOs use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. I also assumed that participants would have the experiences and knowledge regarding the phenomenon and respond honestly to the interview questions with simple and free from personal bias answers. Another assumption was that the selected small business owners would know how to provide strategies and methods to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. I assumed that TL was an appropriate framework to use because it builds on the idea that leadership develops followers, builds relationships, influences positive

employee performance, and the leader acts as a visionary to improve the organization. The final assumption was that three to six small business owners was an adequate sample size to collect enough data to achieve saturation, following the suggestion of Boddy (2016).

Limitations

I identified multiple limitations to this study. Limitations are conditions or restrictions related to the research's potential weaknesses that are out of the researcher's control (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2019). The first limitation was difficulty collecting data because of limited time and availability of moving company owners, the COVID-19 pandemic, and my physical location. To address this limitation, I conducted Zoom interviews and provided each participant with two potential dates and time slots for the interview. Another limitation was the unwillingness of participants to share relevant information regarding their strategies to sustain their business beyond 5 years. I was transparent by explaining that their best practices and privacy would be protected to establish a positive and professional rapport with each participant and to eliminate or minimize this unwillingness.

Delimitations

A researcher uses delimitation to place limits and boundaries on the research. A researcher decides to set the boundaries or limitations of the work so that the study's aim and objective do not become impossible to achieve (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018).

The first delimitation was of the geographic location of this study, which only focused on SMCBOs in Los Angeles County. Another delimitation was that the sample size would

be limited to three small moving company owners who have sustained their business for 5 years. I specifically focused on the strategies, knowledge, and available resources small moving company owners use to sustain the business beyond 5 years. Future researchers exploring the employee empowerment strategies of SMCBOs should consider replicating the study in other sectors and with other participants.

Significance of the Study

The results of this study may have significance and provide SMCBOs with a better understanding of employee empowerment strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. There are 31.7 million small businesses in the United States, and small businesses account for 99.9 % of all firms within the United States (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2019). Los Angeles County (2020) is home to 244,000 businesses, consisting of racial-ethnic minority-owned businesses than any other county in the nation. Los Angeles (2020) is the nation's primary port for international trade and manufacturing centers.

Small business owners and managers could use the study results as a reference or guide to help them lead a successful small business. Sustainability strategies and increased knowledge could help reduce small business failures, which may lead to increased social inclusion, connections, financial literacy, and future prosperity of the workers and their families within their communities.

Contribution to Business Practice

The findings from this study may provide SMCBOs with practical strategies that facilitate better practices and sustainability. SMCBOs contribute by uncovering TL

practices and behaviors to produce strategies to empowered and motivated employees. The SMCBOs could use the findings from the study to share their practical strategies and knowledge with other small business owners and identify business skills required for individuals attempting to start a new small business venture to sustain business operations beyond the 5 years.

Implications for Social Change

This study's implications for positive social change include providing knowledge and/or opportunities to improve the human and social conditions within the local communities. Social change aims to benefit society more than organizations (Lumpkin et al., 2018). The findings from this study may help small business owners develop employees and contractors into appreciated citizens of their communities. Identifying and potentially providing a list of leadership strategies could enable small business survival and sustainability that would benefit employees and their families while providing longevity, local employment, and stable incomes that can catalyze local economic growth.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In the academic literature review, a researcher presents reviews, critiques, and synthesizes the extant literature on the topic under study. The academic literature review process could be integrated to bring new frameworks and perspectives to the research topic (Decker & McGill, 2019). Rocco et al. (2018) noted that a structured literature review systematically gathers relevant literature on the research topic. A researcher seeking relevant literature on issues should use connectors such as "and" or "not"

because these Boolean operators help to narrow the search results and provide results in line with the requested search (Rynes & Bartunek, 2017).

In this academic literature review, I encapsulated, analyzed, and reviewed past and current reference articles, journal articles, doctoral studies, and books on empowerment strategies, sustainability strategies, and leadership styles relevant to the business problem. The Walden University Library provided me with online access to multiple business database to obtain these resources, including ProQuest, Business Source Complete, SAGE Journals, ABI/INFORM Complete, Emerald Management Journal, EBSCOhost. The Google Scholar search engine and government databases were also searched. I used the Boolean connector method to search key terms and applied search filters, such as limiting for peer-reviewed journal results only. The keywords and phrases used in the search were *small business*, *small business failure*, *little business* success, short business survival, strategic management, small business planning, business skills, entrepreneur, leadership, servant, transactional, transformational, leadership styles, organizational performance, and a mix of these keywords. The literature review comprises data from 244 sources, including peer-reviewed journals, conference proceedings, textbooks, doctoral dissertations, and content from reputable websites. Of the 244 sources, 183 (75%) of the references and publications were published within 5 years of my expected graduation date. Conversely, 25% were published before 2016. Additionally, 195 sources in the literature review, accounting for 80% of the references, were peer reviewed.

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored employee empowerment

strategies and obtained knowledge from SMCBOs that sustained their business beyond 5 years. Researchers use a specific framework to gather relevant factors or evidence to support the research topic (De Leeuw et al., 2015). Using TL theory as the conceptual framework for this study provided structure to obtain a deeper context to answer the following research question: What empowerment strategies do small moving company owners use to sustain business beyond 5 years? In the next subsection, I discuss TL theory as the conceptual framework of the study.

TL

Transformational leader is one of the most dominant and debated leadership theories. Thompson et al. (2021) noted that more than 3 decades have passed since Bass (1985) first acknowledged TL. Although it would be far-fetched to suggest that leadership scholars agree on which behavior and styles are optimal for leadership, the arguments for TL are more persuasive than any other (Judge & Piccolo, 2004). Burns (1978) first proposed the TL theory in the late 1970s. Khanin (2007) noted that Burns described TL as a leader-follower relationship based on motivation and morality. Other researchers have debated different definitions of TL. Tyssen et al. (2014) opined that TL shapes employee commitment, while Mclaggan et al. (2013) described a transformational leader as one who can inspire followers to forgo their good for the organization's sake. Yuan and Lee (2011) concurred that TL involves coaching and mentoring, which are focused on leveraging followers' characteristics to promote motivation, satisfaction, and commitment. Most leadership approaches that have emerged could be categorized as either transforming (i.e., transformational) or transactional (Burns, 1978).

Transformational and transactional leadership styles are commonplace in the workforce.

Imran et al. (2016) agreed that the TL style for business owners successfully motivates and empowers employees, helps improve business performance, and contributes to business sustainability. According to Wasim and Imran (2010), the transformational leader has a pathfinder's role and communicates their vision with the employees through their skills and style. Zizek et al. (2017) claimed that transformational leaders positively impact the welfare of employees and organizations worldwide. Transformational leaders who inspire their followers use strategies to improve employees' motivation and empowerment.

Several leadership styles produce results. Bass (1978) and Burns (1978) found that the TL style is more effective in motivating employees than other leadership styles. According to Bass (1985), transformational leaders exhibit behaviors that support and empower employees to increase engagement. Bonau (2017) concluded that transformational leaders create an environment of commitment and motivation among their followers, inspiring, stimulating, and motivating them through a shared vision that raises the desire to do better. Transformational leaders empower followers to develop new and unique ways to challenge the status quo and alter the organization to ensure success.

Transformational leaders create valuable and positive change in employees (Butt, 2020). Bass (1985) noted that followers seek honest leaders who can trust and influence. Bass and Avolio's (1997) earlier work included four dimensions of TL: (a) idealized influence, (b) individual consideration, (c) inspirational motivation, and (d) intellectual

stimulation. The following year, Bass and Avolio subdivided idealized influence into two additional components of idealized attributes and idealized behaviors. These five components of TL are defined as:

- Idealized attributes: Exhibiting selflessness and respect for others (Bass & Avolio, 1997).
- Idealized behaviors: Encouraging followers to achieve defined goals through the existence of a shared vision, mission, and set of ideals (Bass & Avolio, 1997; Casimir et al., 2012).
- Individual consideration: Attending to followers' needs and serving as mentors and coaches (Bass & Avolio, 1997).
- Inspirational motivation: The development of meaning and a robust team environment as well as the provision of challenging work (Bass & Avolio, 1997).
- Intellectual stimulation: The encouragement of innovation, creativity, and followers' involvement in problem-solving (Bass & Avolio, 1997).

Transformational leaders who display behavior in a manner perceived by followers as respectful, fair, and consistent with moral and ethical standards can expect more outstanding follower organization and team attachment (Thompson et al., 2021). Transformational leaders do not initiate punishment and understand that setbacks and challenges will be faced when working to achieve goals (Bass, 1997). Humility, integrity, creativity, tenacity, strength, innovation, and inspiration are critical attributes of the transformational leader (also referred to as the charismatic leader; Berendt et al., 2012).

Charismatic leadership and TL represent vital examples of theories of exceptional leadership; in other words, leadership theories where followers often produce performance beyond expectations (Dionne et al., 2012). It is debatable whether charismatic leadership and TL are distinct styles.

Charismatic leadership derives from the Greek word for "gift" (Tokbaeva, 2021). Shao et al. (2016) concurred with Fiol et al. (1999) that there are similarities between the two theories. According to Shao et al., charismatic leadership has the most critical influence on individual behaviors. Charismatic leadership and TL share a crucial core element concerning the emotional attachment developed with followers and linked to an overall, common cause that contributes to the greater good (Dionne et al., 2012). Charismatic leadership instills a common and shared vision toward the future that is initially labeled as idealized influence.

Interactional justice is the psychological mechanism expected to reflect best how transformational leaders influence followers, specifically, to increase employee performance for sustainability. In a study on TL, Thompson et al. (2021) explored the impact of TL and interactional justice on follower performance and organizational commitment in a business context. In another study conducted in a business context, Cho and Dansereau (2010) found that interactional justice was responsible for transmitting the effects of individualized consideration. Cho and Dansereau's study was conducted in a collective culture (South Korea) where employees were willing to subordinate self-interest for the larger collective. Transformational leader behaviors in one situation may not translate to effective performance in a different context (Antonakis & Atwater, 2002).

Transformational leaders whom followers perceive as kind, respectful, and dignified can expect followers to respond with behaviors aligned with the leader's goal, such as working harder to enhance personal performance for sustainability. When leaders change, the organization can accomplish more.

Transformational leaders style has been noted to increase harmony in the workplace due to its emphasis on cooperation and teamwork (Chung & Li, 2018). Bass (1985) found that transformational leaders are goal-oriented motivators who are caring, helpful, and passionate about leading. Choi et al. (2016) supported Burn's (1978) findings, discovering a significant relationship between TL and employee empowerment. Choi et al. found that leaders use TL characteristics to develop employees to achieve desired outcomes. Transformational leaders empower employees to build new and unique ways to challenge the status quo and alter the organization to help ensure success.

Transformational leaders can transform employees' concentration to focus on the organization's collective vision and inspire them to be innovative. Malik et al. (2017) found that a transformational leader is an example of a leader who can inspire and motivate employees by ensuring they have a clear vision of their goals and the required skills to perform at higher levels. Mittal and Dhar (2015) noted that transformational leaders could share the organization's vision because of their ability to inspire innovation and problem solving among employees. Mokhber et al. (2018), in concurrence with Bass (1985), found that transformational leaders promote professional and personal growth. TL could support an organizational culture that fosters enhanced business practices by empowering leaders and employees (Burns, 1978).

Diverse leaders demonstrate TL through enacting dynamic change. Examples of TL in action would be: Franklin Roosevelt leading the United States through turmoil and uncertainty following the Great Depression by establishing the New Deal (Dowling, 2017). Henry Kaiser was a medical transformation founder on a population level with the Kaiser Foundation and Kaiser Permanente initiation (Kattih et al., 2021). Bill Gates revolutionized the electronic age through work with Microsoft, and he and his wife, Melinda, set an example for philanthropic models of educational transformation through their foundation (Allen et al., 2016). Within a service-oriented industry, a transformational leader typically demonstrates highly effective emotional intelligence. These are examples of the use of TL that have impacted employees and business performance.

Transformational leaders create a vision and develop strategies for employees to follow to achieve the desired goals (Chung & Li, 2018). Effelsberg et al. (2014) noted that transformational leaders inspire employees to change their views and expectations and motivate them to achieve shared goals. Atwijuka and Caldwell (2017) concurred with Hunt (2017), declaring that transformational leaders build relationships and earn employees' commitment to create organizations that perform efficiently and effectively to compete against their competitors successfully.

Transformational leaders demonstrate the principles and morals that project trust and loyalty to team members (Chung & Li, 2018). Transformational leaders emphasize teamwork and the attainment of shared goals, which are also values of collectivist cultures (Newman & Butler, 2014). Transformational leaders are intellectually

stimulating and generate images of possibilities as part of a creative process for employees to look at problems innovatively and creatively (Bass, 1978). Malik et al. (2017) revealed that transformational leaders encourage interpersonal relationships to improve employee gratification and their desire to continue employment. Communication between the transformational leader and employees is important to create trust and loyalty. These qualities could be beneficial to small mom-and-pop moving businesses to sustain the business beyond 5 years.

Transformational leaders are typically understood to positively influence employees and help improve organizational performance. Nohe and Hertel (2017) stated that transformational leaders enhance organizational performance. Transformational leaders impact organizational outcomes by influencing employees' behaviors, commitment, and engagement, resulting in increased performance (Farahnak et al., 2020). Choi et al. (2016), in agreement with Burns (1978), found a significant relationship between TL and employee empowerment. A transformational leader can positively change the organization and its employees (Malik et al., 2017). These various examples of TL could be elements used by small business owners to improve best practices and enable sustainability beyond 5 years.

Transformational leaders can help influence employees to make a commitment to the organization. In a quantitative study, Rua et al. (2016) surveyed 58 employees to study organizational commitment. The researchers obtained a 71% response rate, and the results revealed that TL positively enhanced organizational trust but not commitment. In contrast, Caillier and Sa (2017) concluded that transformational leaders deliver high

organizational performance. Paladan (2015) stated that the TL theory is the most well-known leadership theory scholars use to explore strategies and bring positive organizational change. The TL style could be beneficial to small, mom-and-pop, moving businesses to inspire and motivate employees to achieve collective goals. Fostering an environment that enhances employees' performance contributes to employees' innovation to sustain operations.

Transactional Leaders

Transactional leadership is a directive of an interaction between the two (leader & follower) dominated by exchanging a transaction. Max Weber introduced the transactional leadership concept in 1947, which Bass (1985) later expanded on. Transactional leadership originated from the marketplace of fast, simple transactions among multiple leaders and followers, leading to short-term relationships of exchange with leaders (Burns, 1978). Additionally, some scholars have criticized transactional leadership theory because its focus generally is a one size fits all, universal approach to leadership that disregards situational and contextual factors relating to organizational challenges (Ghani et al., 2018; McCleskey, 2014). TL focuses on the commitment to the organization's objective, and transactional leadership focuses directly on contingent rewards and sanctions. Offering rewards and sanctions are directly linked to the employee's behaviors, efforts, or results and are vital for the transactional leader. Bass's full-range leadership model conceptualized transactional leadership as having three dimensions: contingent rewards and two management forms by exception. Transactional leadership would be an opposing theory to transformational theory in that it is routine

actions.

A contingent reward is a degree to which the transactional leader sets up constructive transactions or exchanges with followers and promises to provide suitable rewards and recognition to achieve the goals or execute the tasks as required (Bass, 1985; Judge & Piccolo, 2004). The purpose of contingent rewards is to create an incentive mechanism through which employees expect their efforts to increase performance, and in return, the employees will be rewarded (Lunenburg, 2011). Transactional leadership involves contingent reinforcement. Transactional leaders are not focused on changing for the future, mainly keeping practice and process the same, negatively affecting sustainability.

Management, by exception, is the degree to which the transactional leader takes corrective action based on leader-follower transactional results (Judge & Piccolo, 2004). The management by exception consists of two forms, active and passive. Active leaders monitor followers' behavior, anticipate problems, and take corrective actions before the behavior creates severe difficulties. By contrast, passive leaders wait until the behavior has caused problems and take disciplinary action (Bass & Avolio, 1997; Judge & Piccolo, 2004). The third leadership style as part of Bass's (1985) full-range model is laisse-fair leadership. As cited by Robert and Vandenberghe (2021); Laissez-faire leadership is characterized by avoidance and inaction (Hetland et al., 2014). This leadership style would demonstrate and negatively impact sustaining a profitable business.

Transactional leadership is commonly understood as power-based leadership.

Transactional leadership is strongly associated with top-down power and is a

conventional concept for leaders and not enough for organizations that want positive change (Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019). Bass (1985) defined transactional leadership as behavior based on reward and punishment. Transactional leadership is contrasted to TL as a set of actions that seek to develop, share, and sustain a vision intended to encourage employees to transcend their self-interest and achieve organizational goals (Jacobsen & Andersen, 2015). In a study conducted in China, Afsar et al. (2017) concluded that TL positively relates to entrepreneurial behavior, whereas transactional leadership negatively influences it. Researchers collected data from a cross-industry sample of 557 employees and 64 leaders from eight knowledge-intensive organizations.

During a random selection of participants from the banking and insurance industry, Afsar et al. (2017) studied subordinates and their direct supervisors in Marketing, Administration, Human Resources, Operation and Customer Care, and the eight organizations' Information Technology departments. Based on the study results, Afsar et al. (2017) indicated that TL positively relates to entrepreneurial behavior when high psychological empowerment. In contrast, transactional leadership has a negative relationship with entrepreneurial action.

TL, in numerous ways, represents the opposite of transactional leadership.

Leadership conceptualizes differentiating ordinary from extraordinary, transactional, and TL (Burns, 1978). As previously stated, transactional leadership is typical and based on a conventional exchange relationship in which followers' compliance is an exchange for expected rewards (Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019). In contrast, TL is an extraordinary leader raising followers' consciousness levels, providing coaching, mentoring, and

achieving positive outcomes. The principles of TL continued to expand and grow with time. Researcher discussion of various leadership theories is needed to identify which style could positively affect sustainability.

Sustainability: Leadership Strategies

This study is centered on identifying potential leadership strategies that can positively influence an organization's performance, resulting in sustainability. The challenge to define sustainability seems even more complicated because of the relationship between science-based and value-based indicators. Servant and sustainable leadership approaches have a unique contribution to enlightened strategic decision-making in this expanded context of responsible leadership that other leadership theories cannot make. Strategic leadership and corporate sustainability have come together, inconspicuously explicit fashion, through the emergence of top management team positions with dedicated corporate sustainability responsibilities (Rosenhead et al., 2019).

Sustainability is a complex concept and should be the priority for all businesses. Sustainability pertains to a firm's ability to remain in operation for an extended period by achieving relevant objectives. These objectives may include social, environmental, and economic responsibilities (Pojasek, 2010). Sustainability is a complex concept that has been a challenge to understand truly (Dantsis et al., 2009). Different agents use embedded assumptions in sustainability investigations and assessments (Borsato et al., 2020). Sustainable development is a significant concern in research regarding business strategies and practices.

Small business owners' effective strategies and behaviors can positively influence

sustainability. From a study conducted in South Africa, Masocha (2019) concluded that small and medium enterprises (SMEs) potentially benefit from a broader performance spectrum by practicing social sustainability. Using a random selection of small and medium enterprises from the Limpopo province of South Africa, predominantly rural, Masocha (2019), studied 238 SMEs to see if SMEs in developing economies benefit from practicing social sustainability. Social sustainability is the activities that ensure that communities are impartial, varied, allied, and self-governing and deliver a noble value of life. Social activities were sports, health, well-being, education, and helping the low-income earners (Turyakira et al., 2014). These activities are seen as interventions to enhance the social and cultural causes in societies and community development.

In Africa, SMEs contribute to social sustainability by employing people with inadequate education and skills levels and women in lower spectrums of society. By examining the relationship between social sustainability, financial performance, customer satisfaction, and employee satisfaction, Masocha (2019) indicated that all three postulated hypotheses were supported. Owners/managers perceived increased social sustainability practices to enhance their small businesses' financial performance.

Sustainable has been defined in many ways. The Brundtland Commission report as cited by Buziemescu and Buziemescu (2020), defined sustainable development as when development meets the present's needs without compromising future generations' ability to meet their own needs. Sustainability is a long-term journey, a direction that requires sustainable leadership, responsible decision-making, and an understanding of sustainability principles and commitments (Mirvis & Googins, 2006). Venters et al.

(2015) noted sustainability as the capacity of a system to endure and preserve a system's function over an extended period. Small business owners with measurable traits could determine whether the business is sustainable.

A sustainable leadership style focuses on nurturing future generations' potential for a dignified existence. The subject of sustainable leadership is a continued interest in academia; boundaries and guiding threads have yet to be determined. However, sustainable leadership is distinctive from servant leadership because it focuses on the future needs of many stakeholders and not only the present conditions of current followers (Macke & Genari, 2019). Imbeau et al. (2015) noted that sustainable organizations involve having the support and commitment of their leaders and implementing initiatives to improve environmental performance. Sustainability leadership should be a priority for any business.

Corporate social responsibility has been the response organization to challenge sustainable development, for short-term profit and its actual survival and growth for the long haul (McCann & Sweet, 2014). In this context, sustainable leaders value human development and the environment without neglecting the organization's financial and structural capital (Armani et al., 2020). Imbeau et al. (2015) stressed the value-focused environmental measures as basic characteristics of sustainable leaders. Sustainable leaders reinforce the organization's internal resources to solve social and environmental challenges, generate value for the business, and be responsible for developing the communities they are a part of (Armani et al., 2020). Meeting stakeholders' expectations and commitment to the organizational transition towards sustainability.

Leadership is an important component of the life of any business. A review conducted by Hallinger and Suriyankietkaew (2018) analyzed approximately 952 Scopus-indexed documents explicitly concerned with sustainable leadership and pointed out that the subject is emerging as a new domain of study within the field of business administration. Sustainable leadership in sustainable development studies shows the direct responsibility of owners and managers within the organizations to meet the expectations and values of society (Boiral et al., 2014). Armani et al. (2020) indicated that sustainable leaders are usually change-oriented and intensely concerned about the well-being of others and the environment. The definition of leadership from a sustainable perspective is based on the idea that the organizations are part of an environment where it is possible to generate sustainable value and revenue for the business. Demonstrating concerns about the well-being of others and establishing values could be another empowering strategy to sustain the business beyond 5 years.

Top management teams (TMT) and the board of directors are generally strategic leaders of firms, colleges, and schools. Traditionally referred to as "upper echelons theory" (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007), the central thesis of strategic leadership is that a small group of people who occupy the positions at the top of an organization – the top management team – have a significant effect on organizational outcomes. The chief sustainability officer position was to be temporarily, in some cases with intentionality, to raise sustainability considerations and related issues on the corporate's strategic plan, meaning that removing the TMT position may well indicate its success.

Chanpoom and Intrawong (2019) defined this leadership as the ability to understand the key elements of creative, strategic thinking, understand the creative planning process's steps and implementation, and understand and write down the strategic plan. Viitala et al. (2017) referred to strategic leadership as those that create strategies by analyzing the organization's internal and external environment and applying the right approach at the right time to evaluate and act according to the environment. Strategic leaders work collectively to develop a clear vision, emphasize innovation, establish a valuable organizational culture, and enter ethical applications (Hitt et al., 2010). The intention is to place the organization at the forefront, noting that it is more extensive than traditional leadership.

The ideal work environment is highly influential on all individuals, including employees, management, and leadership. Mubarak and Yusoff (2019) concurred that strategic implementation is a critical element of strategic management practice, transforming strategies into a sequence of activities and achieving the organization's strategic objective, mission, and vision. The strategic implementation creates a team environment to increase performance and revenue to sustain the business.

A strategic leader will have many characteristics that enable the individual to be strategic in their leading process and ethical in the entire process. Jansen et al. (2009) stated that leaders' traits are critical in determining how strategic they are in persuading others and supporting them during the journey of achieving their organization's goals, mission, and vision. Increased performance is revelatory in performance, and cultivating a positive workplace further influences improved performance. Graham et al. (2015)

supported that the relationship between the good performance of leadership and ethical values may attract individuals to adapt those ethics in their work.

Strategic leaders' characteristics will vary depending on the field of interest, organization, and nature of their activities. Phipps and Burbach (2010) noted common characteristics that each strategic leader should have: excellent communication skills, motive, cognitive abilities, and differentiation between an individual's skills and abilities (as cited in Hodges & Howieson, 2017). Hodges and Howieson noted that leaders must have social intelligence and behavior complexity among the specifications of a strategic leader, allowing them to influence others and share positive traits and feelings.

There will be times when a leader must respond to an administrative situation that requires decisions to address the issue. Ethics is the science of trial and error or good and evil and is a well-established characteristic of the self-make good acts. The concept of ethical leadership is distinct from other leadership styles, such as transformational, transactional, spiritual, and authentic leadership (Ko et al., 2017). Strategic leadership and ethical leadership are two concepts that can work hand in hand in call levels of society worldwide. These are two leadership styles that should be used in a case-by-case situation.

Other Leadership Styles

There are different kinds of leadership styles. This section includes a brief background of varying leadership styles and explains why these theories are not suitable for this research. According to Al Khajeh (2018), leadership styles matter to organizational productivity. Corporations, Small businesses, and Schools seek leadership

ability because they believe they bring unique assets to their organizations and improve the bottom line. Xu and Wang (2008) defined leadership as crucial for creating visions, mission, determination, and objectives. Organizations have indicated challenges with unethical practices in today's current times, high labor turnover, poor financial performance, and much more. This problem could be due to the lack of effective leadership. This research aims to identify leadership strategies that empower SMBCOs to sustain themselves beyond five years.

A leadership style is the manner and approaches a leader uses with employees to provide directions, implement plans, and motivate and influence people. Leaders focus on people and attaining organizational goals. The first concentrated study of leadership styles was conducted in 1939 by Lewin (Al Khajeh, 2018). Common leadership styles include TL, transactional leadership, autocratic leadership, servant leadership, situational leadership, and adaptive leadership.

Servant Leadership

Leadership as a theme in management has generated a wealth of research over the past several decades. Scholars have recently investigated a type of leadership mainly oriented to employees' needs, known as servant leadership (O'Leary et al., 2002). Greenleaf (1997) is the founder of conceptualization of servant leadership. Servant leadership has experienced a steady following, especially among practitioners and religious leaders (Liu, 2019).

Servant leaders begin with the natural feeling of serving first. Jeyaraj and Gandolfi (2019) indicated that Servant leadership engages followers in relational, ethical,

emotional, and spiritual dimensions. Eva et al., (2019) concluded that servant leadership empowers followers to reach their full potential. A servant leader's traits include listening, stewardship, foresight, healing relationship, empathy, and a commitment to building community (Greenleaf, 1997). Scholars consider servant leadership religious because the focus is on serving others first and conducting oneself ethically (Wong et al., 2018). When leaders can shift the administration's focus from the organization to the follower, this is a distinguishing factor to classify leaders as either transformational or servant leaders (Stone et al., 2004). Van Dierendonck and Nuijten (2011) shared that servant, and transformational leaders are similar in that they focus on listening, encouraging, and empowering followers. Compared to servant leaders, Graham (1991) stated that transformational leaders directly impact organizational change and transformation instead of individuals' transformation. Servant leaders focus on others and, by doing so, help transform organizations successfully through motivation and serving.

Eva et al. (2019) differentiated servant leadership from other leadership approaches by stating that servant leadership is not a performance-oriented leadership approach because it does not sacrifice people for profit and growth. Servant leadership is suited for the satisfaction of the psychological needs of followers than TL. Spears (2010) noted that servant leadership would be more beneficial to nonprofit organizations than TL. Interest in servant leadership theory continues to advance.

Situational Leadership

Leadership continues to be a topic of discussion in the academic and business

worlds. Ardichvili and Manderscheid (2008) stated that many leadership theories and styles exist. The Hersey-Blanchard situational leadership model introduced in 1979 is the most used in large business communities and has been modified and expanded over the years (Hersey & Blanchard, 1979). Situational leadership evolved from task-oriented versus people-oriented leadership (McCleskey, 2014). Hersey and Blanchard (1996) have argued that there is no right or wrong leadership style, and it is the attitude of the leaders that makes a difference. Situational leadership is adjusting one's leadership style to meet the followers' needs. The follower grows and becomes more capable of completing the tasks required.

Schermerhorn and Bachrach (2015) supported the idea that leaders can alter their leadership style to fit the follower's needs (as cited in Wright, 2017). Hersey and Blanchard (1996) believed that successful leadership selects the most suitable leadership style based on the followers' readiness level. Hence, Hersey and Blanchard categorized the response by leaders into four quadrants:

- Telling: Followers unable, unwilling, or insecure in completing a task, the leader must rely on giving instruction and directing.
- 2. Delegating: When followers are ready, willing, and able to complete the work.
- 3. Selling: When followers cannot complete the tasks but are still ready, willing, and confident, they can do so.
- 4. Participating: Followers require high support with little guidance (Papworth et al., 2009).

A change in the leadership behavior of situational leadership is triggered by an

improvement in the follower's performance as they move along the development continuum (Lynch, 2015). To be an effective leader requires that a person adapt their style to different situations' demands. Implement leadership styles can be a challenge if an individual is unfamiliar with the types.

Situational leadership has been popular but still an under researched theory.

Mehta (2012) noted that many studies and researchers recognized that the situational leadership theory model has been relevant to the training and human resource development fields. Situational leadership theory is frequently cited throughout academic management textbooks, among the most widely known leadership theories in management training programs and schoolteacher training settings.

Adaptive Leadership

Adaptive leadership is about how leaders encourage people to adapt – to face and deal with problems and challenges and to change and grow. Adaptive leadership is unique because it is followers-centered rather than leader-centered. Resulting in a prescriptive approach for leaders to help their followers confront and manage conflicting values and beliefs that occur in complex and changing work environments (Heifetz et al., 2009). Adaptive leadership is one style delivered successfully based on existing strengths and works with effective technical leadership (Heifetz et al., 2009; Khan, 2017). Adaptive leadership encourages significant change across multiple levels, including self, organizational, community, and societal (Northouse, 2016). In adaptive leadership, it becomes critical for the leader to comprehend what is happening and frame critical issues and questions within the social team/group. A facilitative, inclusive approach is key to

lasting impact (Heifetz et al., 2009). Jefferies's (2017) article, adaptive leadership in a socially revolving world: a symbolic interactionist lens of adaptive leadership theory, highlighted Northouse's six primary behaviors of adaptive leadership:

- 1. Get on the balcony: Step away from the mix to gain a new perspective.
- 2. Identify adaptive challenges: Focus on the problems requiring collaboration with others.
- 3. Regulate distress: Monitor the stress of others during times of uncertainty while recognizing the need for change.
- 4. Maintain disciplined attention: Influence others to remain focused.
- 5. Give the work back to the people: Adaptive leadership empowers others to take ownership of their work, solve their problems, and take responsibility.
- 6. Protect leadership voices from below: pay attention, listen, and consider ideas from all involved, including racial-ethnic minority classes.

Jefferies's (2017) adaptive leadership in a socially revolving world noted that Northouse (2016) clarified that these behaviors needed further refinement because of the lack of clarity and specificity and partially because of the lack of evidence-based research supporting the theory. Most writing about adaptive leadership has been prescriptive and based on anecdotal and observational data rather than data derived from rigorous scientific inquiry. Adaptive leadership is about changing and adjusting to new circumstances (Northouse, 2016), as cited in Jefferies adaptive leadership research. Scholars and practitioners have recognized the approach's merits, but adaptive leadership's theoretical underpinnings remain in the formative stages.

Leadership in the Workplace

Managers work in an international context and need to deal with subordinates of different cultural backgrounds. Van Woerkom and De Reuver (2009) believed that increasing companies expand beyond national borders. Current research on leadership strongly emphasizes that TL models are related to a wide variety of positive individual and organizational outcomes (De Hoogh et al., 2004; Podsakoff et al., 1990). Although TL style has been linked to excellent management performance, research on TL effectiveness in a multicultural context is limited.

According to Stone et al. (2004), "The extent to which the leader can shift the primary focus of leadership from the organization to the follower is the distinguishing factor in classifying leaders as either transformational or servant leaders" (p. 1). Van Dierendonck et al. (2014) concluded that servant leadership is a newer study area. Only a handful of empirical studies have been conducted to test the effects of servant leadership. According to the TL theory, transformational leaders' emergence and effectiveness will be associated with the leader's sense of social responsibility and collective interests rather than self-interest (Hughes et al., 2018). Because of this social focus, these leaders can be expected to function well across different cultures.

The TL style requires numerous parties to collaborate to achieve the appointed goals. Hughes et al. (2018) shared that the effects of TL styles can be generalized across cultures. Studies based on the charisma scale of the multifactor leadership questionnaire (Bass & Avolio, 1997) have demonstrated similar findings in the United States, India, Singapore, the Netherlands, China, Japan, and Canada. Johnson (2015) concluded that no

"one style suits all" for the multicultural and multigenerational workplace. The main challenge is how societies, groups, and individuals engage in intercultural relations (Boddy, 2016). Although culturally diverse societies experience challenges facing their diversity, all cultures do not develop and pursue the exact strategies to deal with their situations.

Workforce diversity is most common in companies of the 21st century. Cultural challenges are manageable if managers and team members choose the right strategy and avoid imposing single-culture-based approaches to multicultural situations (Brett et al., 2006). Heifetz et al. (2009) concluded that leadership is a change or adaptive process to address conflicts in people's values or diminish the gap between the values people stand for and the reality they face. Finally, leaders' power is dependent mainly on how they are perceived by others (Hollander & Julian, 1969; Maurer & Lord, 1991; Pfeffer, 1977). The challenge to effectively managing multicultural teams is recognizing underlying cultural causes of conflict and intervening in ways that both get the team back on track and empower its members to deal with future challenges.

The coronavirus pandemic in 2020 has forced small companies and significant firms local and worldwide to transition to a virtual workplace (Mishra & Jena, 2020). Social distancing, washing hands, and wearing masks are the new norm, creating one of the most extensive works from home experiments humanity has ever participated in (Mishra & Jena, 2020). Leadership local and worldwide is in a dilemma incorporating such an enormous change and immediate effect (Hamilton, 2020). Employees, leaders, and owners need to work with one another more than before and hold shared

accountability for success.

Leadership has become more creative and thinks "outside" the box. In the virtual workplace, a term called lean leadership has surfaced. The lean methodology focuses on consistent performance through continuous improvement checks by defect reduction and wastage analysis. According to Alves et al. (2012), the lean management method effectively minimizes waste and identifies bottlenecks, bringing substantial cost reduction in the business process. Implementing the lean methodology requires a review of the current business processes in place. A researcher can differentiate the task performed into value-adding, non-value-adding, and enabling (Bhamu et al., 2013). Implementing lean management principles requires the managers and owners to work in tandem by sharing decision-making capacity. Some of the ways that managers and owners across different sectors applied the lean concept in their organization were as follows:

- 1. Employees intensively equip them with machine maintenance, reducing machine downtime.
- 2. In the financial services sector, teams were assembled to streamline the customer handling process to meet the customer requirements faster.
- 3. The law enforcement industry used lean to save personnel hours in the jail booking process, thereby minimizing costs by a great deal.
- 4. Effective teams were created to identify the bottleneck processes in the healthcare sector to reduce the patient waiting time and paperwork delays.
- 5. A core principle of lean is people development, and the education industry uses lean extensively to improve student and educator performance.

- 6. The leaders used various process improvement tools to optimize the business.
- 7. Plan-do-check-act: This continuous improvement cycle results in frequent improvements (especially in quality control).
- 8. Sorting, straighten, sweep, standardize, sustain: This long-term tool creates workplace behaviors to maintain an organized workplace.

Implementing the above tools and techniques, leaders need to create an environment that supports such a change virtually. Leaders and owners would have to develop a lean culture, keep their employees engaged virtually, and assemble efficient teams by connecting employees to one another.

Leadership in the Schools

School leadership has more responsibilities. School principals have critical roles because of their duties and responsibilities and the leadership roles (Ucar & Dalgic, 2021). The primary immigrant-receiving nations are increasingly culturally diverse, schools are often viewed as areas of intercultural tension (Celeste et al., 2019). The schools can also be important sites of "ethnic-racial socialization," where children and adolescents often interact with their peers in cross-cultural circumstances (Zhou et al., 2020). Children can learn about cultural diversity and their own cultural identity and develop a sense of belonging within a multicultural society (Civitillo et al., 2017). In potentially intercultural tension areas, schools can be pivotal in developing strategies for multicultural understanding and combatting racism (Vervaet et al., 2018). Because of the increasing multiculturality in schools, school leaders' roles and responsibilities have been reviewed (Kemp-Graham, 2015).

School leadership creates school environments sensitive to multicultural reality (Merlin-Knoblich & Chen, 2018). Leadership style shapes culture, and culture affects leaders. School leadership can respond to the multicultural school environment by adapting its policies, programs, and practices (Merlin-Knoblich & Chen, 2018). Multicultural leadership refers to the interpretation of the policy by school principals. More specifically, the degree to which school leaders and teachers claim that multiculturalism is recognized in their school's policy. When school leaders meet resistance and lack preparation, and are unaware of multiculturality in their school, they will not reduce pupils' ethnic prejudice by providing multicultural leadership. The same principle applies to small moving companies with multicultural employees.

Forrest et al. (2017) concluded that the primary goal of multicultural education is to help students develop the knowledge, attitudes, and skills needed to function within their own (and) other micro-cultures and within the global community (Banks, 2001, p. 25). Workplace and Schools can be successful based on how well diversity is understood, appreciated, and leveraged.

Cultural Diversity

Different languages spoken, different religions, observation of different holidays, racial and ethnic identity are part of cultural diversity. Culture is that which shapes us; it shapes our identity and influences our behavior. Culture is our "way of being." It refers to the shared language, beliefs, values, norms, behaviors, and material objects passed down from one generation to another (Schaefer, 2006). The ability to embrace critical dialogue across differences is essential to effective leadership and responsible people in a global

society.

The term "culturally diverse" is often used interchangeably with the concept of "multiculturalism." Multiculturalism is defined as: "a system of beliefs and behaviors that recognizes and respects the presence of all diverse groups in an organization or society and encourages and enables their continued contribution within an inclusive cultural context which empowers all within the organization or community (Dan, 2014). Diversity and inclusion are conversation starters of multiculturalism and learning and transformation are emphasized (Choi & Lee, 2020). The value that diversity contributes to learning, in general, is also increasingly recognized as essential to leadership learning.

Cultural diversity is important because our country, workplaces, and schools increasingly consist of various cultural, racial, and ethnic groups. Cultural diversity allows each culture to recognize and respect different "ways of being" that are specific to that culture. This can lead to interactions with others and build respect, trust, and understanding across cultures.

Change Management: Overcoming Resistance to Change

More significant or small organizations must keep up with the ongoing changes to survive and evolve. Burnes (2015) believed that leaders had to change first and assist the followers to adapt to change for the organization to survive. Such is the importance now given to change that it has been seen as the prime responsibility of those who lead organizations, as the rise of the transformational leader shows (Bass, 1978; Burns, 1978; Yukl & Mahsud, 2010). Approximately 70% of change initiatives fail. Many reasons have been put forward for such a high level of failure (Rosenbaum et al., 2018), but

employee resistance has been one of the most frequently cited (Oreg et al., 2018).

Ceptureanu (2015) concluded that resistance to change is based on logical reasons arising from the third law of Newton's dynamics that every movement always meets resistance forces. Two sufficiently antimoniacal paradigms on resistance to change are observed: traditional and modern paradigms.

Understanding and interpreting resistance to change remains a significant challenge, despite the abundance of literature and the concept's popularity. Bareil (2007) found that the crux of opposition to change is still unclear. Remembering resistance is usually associated with an act, an action, a behavior: the "act of resisting, fighting against" and is generally interpreted as an obstacle to change. Bareil (2007) stated traditional paradigm is resistance construed as the enemy of change, an adversary, a barrier to change, and a problem to be eliminated. A maladaptive anti-change behavior or an inappropriate threat on the part of a change recipient, usually an employee (Shimoni, 2017), with a dispositional inclination to resist change (Oreg et al., 2018). In contrast, according to a modern paradigm, the act of resisting (the exact behavior of resistance) is interpreted differently: as a resource, a form of a feedback of discomfort (Bareil et al., 2007; Oreg et al., 2018), and a preoccupation (Bedrule-Grigoruta, 2017). Also, an ambivalent response (Stouten et al., 2018) to a proposed change (neither consistently negative nor consistently positive) on the part of a change recipient who cares about the organization (Whiting & Ford, 2009) and could contribute to effective change management (Oreg et al., 2018). However, it is still hesitant.

Change is not easy, and it means getting out of your comfort zone. Sinek (2009)

noted that influential leaders enable followers to understand the reason for the change and see its personal and organizational benefits, as cited in Caulfield and Senger (2017). Although each company's particular circumstance accounts for some of the problems, the widespread difficulties have at least one common root: Managers and employees view change differently. Top-level managers see change as an opportunity to strengthen the business by aligning operations with strategy, taking on new professional challenges and risks, and advancing their careers. Many employees, including middle managers, are neither sought after nor welcomed change. It is disruptive and intrusive and upsets the balance. Senior managers consistently misjudge the effect of this gap on their relationship with subordinates and on the effort required to win acceptance of the change (Caulfield & Senger, 2017).

Emotional reactions to change are considered normal. According to Umble and Umble (2014), the underlying issue is that significant change always involves uncertainty about affecting people. Therefore, uncertainty can lead to fear as people imagine real threats to their job status or security. Fear often leads to resistance, sometimes fierce opposition, to the proposed change. Tobias (2015) recommended that a leader must articulate what changes are necessary for his behavior for change to work. The leader must personally – and authentically – state why it is important to change while modeling the desired changed behavior. Without that problematic, challenging, and yet crucial step, the likelihood of a change effort's success is remote.

Leaders cannot ignore the stress factor of individuals to change. The reality of change and the resulting need to adapt is a must for success (Blom, 2018). The McKinsey

consulting group reported data in 2019 alarming; 70% of all change management efforts failed (Jones-Schenk, 2019). Jeffery Hiatt, the author of the Awareness, Desire, Knowledge, Ability, and Reinforcement five-step process, notes that change management is personal and individualized (Shepherd et al., 2014). Hiatt's five-step process considers a person's view of the current state as to how the problem is perceived, the sender's credibility, the circulation of the misinformation, and the contestability of the reasons for change. This change model's uniqueness offers more of a bottom-up than a top-down perspective to guide plans for change (Jones-Schenk, 2019). Iuliana (2020) concluded that obtaining change implementation and management depends vastly on the employees' perception of it. Key factors driving positive change are sharing the vision, open communication, mission, leadership, and organizational culture. Leaders utilizing practical change management skills will minimize the resistance from the start.

Transition

Section 1 of this doctoral study included information regarding the research problem. Additional items discussed in this section include conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, delimitation, and the significance of the study. Section 1 concludes with a review of the professional and academic literature. Are presenting the basis for the research to understand leadership strategies. This qualitative multiple case study explores small moving company owners' empowerment strategies to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Section 2 contains the research procedure that explains my role as a qualitative researcher, including the research population and sampling method, research method, design, ethical research, data collection instrument

and techniques, data organization techniques, data analysis, and reliability and validity. In Section 3, I provide a formal presentation of the results of the semistructured interviews, implications for social change, a recommendation for future action, and suggestions for small business owners.

Section 2: The Project

The target population was three to six small moving company owners located in Southern California. The focus of this study was to better understand the owners' use of TL theory and employee empowerment strategies to sustain the business beyond 5 years. In this section, I discuss the requirement for participation, research method, data collection, and the ethical requirements of the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) regarding protecting participants' privacy.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the effective employee empowerment strategies small moving company owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. The target population was three to six experienced SMCBOs in Southern California who successfully employed employee empowerment strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. Understanding the employee empowerment strategies, such as transformational leadership and combining different leadership styles the SMCBOs used may lead to employment opportunities in Southern California, resulting in increased prosperity in local communities.

Role of the Researcher

In qualitative research, the role of the researcher is vital for data collection and data analysis. I was the primary data collection instrument for the study. A researcher's role in the data collection process is to observe the phenomenon of interest ethically and unbiasedly, secure the collected data, and interpret the data, (Hoeber & Shaw, 2017; Sanjari et al., 2014; Yates & Leggett, 2016). Yin (2018) described four steps to the

research process: (a) the design of the study, (b) evidence of collection process, (c) method of analyzing the data collected, and (d) reporting the findings of the data analyzed. When interviewing the participants, I followed these four steps to explore the employee empowerment strategies SMCBOs use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. I collected, processed, and reported the data collected and then analyzed the data for the findings. I did not have any direct relationship with any of the participants in the study. I was knowledgeable about the field of study because I am a prior SMBCO.

An additional role of the researcher is to be ethical when interacting with the participants. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2013) published the Belmont Report to provide a structured framework to analyze ethical issues and outline the principles for ethical research, which are (a) respect for the person, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice (Miracle, 2016). I referred to the framework and principles presented in the Belmont Report to ensure this study met ethical standards. Participants were asked if they reviewed the informed consent form before conducting the interviews to understand their rights and privacy. The informed consent form alleviates the researcher's personal biases and provides the participants with an understanding of the research scope, risks, and benefits (Yin, 2018). Bias may appear in some qualitative research because of the interaction between a researcher and participants on topics both parties are familiar with and have experienced (Devotta et al., 2016; Odierna et al., 2013). Understanding that biases could influence the study's outcomes, I selected owners from the industry with whom I had no direct relationship with to mitigate any conflicts of interest or personal bias.

It is the role of a researcher to develop an interview protocol for collecting qualitative data and ensuring reliability. Using an interview protocol (see Appendix A) systematically ensures that a researcher asks each participant the same questions to enhance data quality (Yin, 2018). A researcher uses the interview protocol to allow each respondent to provide their perspective in an orderly and guided manner (Yin, 2018). Castillo-Montoya (2016) suggested that researchers use the following four steps to strengthen interview protocols: (a) confirm interview questions link to the research questions, (b) use an inquiry approach to drive the conversation, (c) obtain interview protocol feedback, and (d) implement a pilot for the defined interview protocol. I used an interview protocol to apply a consistent and standardized approach when asking the semistructured interview questions.

Participants

The participants for this qualitative multiple case study included three SMBCOs who successfully implemented employee empowerment strategies and sustained their business for a minimum of 5 years. Researchers select participants based on the respondents with direct knowledge or experiences about the phenomena or problem explored (see Maramwidze-Merrison, 2016; Yin, 2018). I based participant selection on their knowledge and experience to answer the research question (see Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). Additional criteria included (a) owning a small moving company in the Los Angeles County for at least 5 years and (b) employing less than three employees.

To gain access to the participants, I contacted the owners of small moving companies with three or more employees in the study location. I used the internet to

search for small moving company owners' contact information within the study location. A researcher gains access to participants through prior affiliations and may need to interact with gatekeepers (Maramwidze-Merrison, 2016). After obtaining the contact information, I called potential participants to discuss the study, anticipated benefits, and use of the data each would provide. Participants were not accessible in a face-to-face manner because of their geographical location and COVID-19 restrictions, resulting in the five interviews being conducted via phone calls with one being conducted over the Zoom platform. Participants received an invitation email and the informed consent form for their review. The invitation provided instructions for the participant to review the informed consent form and respond to the email with the words, "I consent," indicating they had read the informed consent and agreed to participate. I requested that participants respond by email within 5 days of receiving the invitation email if they were willing to participate, allowing for planning and scheduling the interviews.

Upon receiving the participant's informed consent, I established a working relationship by conducting an introductory phone call. Researchers build connections and trust with respondents by being transparent about the study background and purpose (Mohebbi et al., 2018; Park & Lunt, 2015). Following the phone call, I sent each participant a confirmation email and thanked each participant for their participation. I confirmed the date and time for the initial interview with the Zoom link.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

I chose a qualitative method to explore employee empowerment strategies

SMCBOs use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. Saunders et al. (2019) termed research methodology as a set of beliefs and assumptions to develop a study's knowledge and classified them into three types: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. Qualitative researchers use open-ended questions, artifacts, and words to thoroughly understand a phenomenon through people's lenses (Cypress, 2018; McCusker & Gunaydin, 2019). The quantitative method permits participants to respond to questions in their own words to answer the research question (Cypress, 2018). A quantitative method collects statistical and numerical data to answer questions of how many (David et al., 2017; Lubbers et al., 2020; Saunders et al., 2019). Researchers use a quantitative method to examine a phenomenon and rely upon statistical data to validate the hypothesis by comparing the relationship between variables (Cypress, 2018; McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015; Singh, 2015). I did not choose the quantitative method because this study was not reliant on statistical and numerical data. The mixed-methods approach includes both qualitative and quantitative methods. The mixed-methods approach was not appropriate to explore the employee empowerment strategies the SMCBOs use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years because there was no quantitative component to the study. Neither the quantitative approach nor mixed methods were appropriate because the study was not focused on statistical data to prove a hypothesis and the relationship between variables. A qualitative method was suitable for understanding SMCBOs' employee empowerment strategies to sustain their business beyond 5 years.

Research Design

I selected the multiple case study design for this study. Providing clear objectives

derived from the research question designates the source and collects the data (Saunders et al., 2019). There are various qualitative research designs; the ones I considered for this study were narrative, ethnography, phenomenology, and case study. Narrative and ethnographic designs focus on predesignated cultural groups or telling chronological events (Houghton et al., 2013). Neither was acceptable for this study because the research was not limited to one cultural group or a chronological narrative. The phenomenological design is used as a lens to understand an individuals' lived experiences (Greenfield & Jensen, 2010). I did not choose the phenomenological design because this study was focused on the organizational process and not the individuals' lived experiences.

A researcher uses the case study design when the research questions require indepth or extensive explanations of a phenomenon (Yin, 2018). A case study design is preferred over other designs when (a) a researcher has little or no control over the events; (b) the focus of the study is current, not historical; and (c) the research questions require what, how, or why responses (Neubert, 2016; Yin, 2018). A case study can be designed as a single or multiple case study. A single case study is used when the study is of a new, critical phenomenon or is unique (Yazan, 2015). Yazan noted that a multiple case study is preferred when reproducing the study provides triangulation and validity to the conclusions. A single case study was not appropriate because this study was focused on multiple organizations in the industry and not on one specific organization.

One purpose of a qualitative research is to attain data saturation. Saunders et al. (2018) defined data saturation as the point when new data begin to repeat, and no new themes emerge. Fusch and Ness (2015) noted that researchers use interviews as the

primary data source to reach data saturation. Furthermore, (Fusch & Ness, 2015) concluded that researchers should structure interviews to ask multiple participants the same questions and ensure data saturation, when no new information is found, or the information begins to repeat.

Population and Sampling

I used purposive sampling to recruit three SMCBOs in the study location who implemented employee empowerment strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. Qualitative researchers use a purposive sampling technique to select participants who can share their unique experiences regarding the specific phenomena (Boddy, 2016; Bougie & Sekaran, 2016). Purposive sampling encompasses choosing participants based on the assumption that the richness of the participant's information is significant to the research questions (Yin, 2018). Convenience sampling is random and occurs when participants who fit a study's criteria are enrolled in the study. One drawback of using purposive sampling is that the study could lack generalizability because of the biases of the sample (Emerson, 2021). However, purposive sampling encompasses choosing participants based on the assumption that the richness of the participant's information is significant to the research questions (Yin, 2018). Purposive sampling was appropriate for this qualitative multiple case study.

I had a sample of three business owners. Compared to quantitative research, which requires larger sample sizes, the sample size in qualitative research can be minimal because of the rich and detailed data collected from research participants (Boddy, 2016). Boddy (2016) and Yin (2018) defined small sample sizes in qualitative research as being

as small as three to six participants, which is best when exploratory or case-based research is being conducted. Researchers have generally agreed that it is impossible to specify a sufficient sample size for qualitative research (Gentles et al., 2015). Palinkas et al. (2015) concluded that researchers often use purposeful sampling for a qualitative case study to choose the most relevant participants who have the most knowledge and experience to answer the research questions. I used purposive sampling was used to select the participants who met the eligibility criteria for the research. Data saturation was met when data did not produce new information (see Boddy, 2016; Fusch & Ness, 2015). The interview process was continued until no new themes emerged.

Ethical Research

Before I began collecting data for this study, I received approval from the Walden University IRB (Approval Number 12-28-21-0694291). Before conducting the interviews, I sent the informed consent form (see Appendix C) to each participant to provide them with specific information regarding the study, its potential risks and benefits, their rights and responsibilities as participants, and my contact information (see Perrault & Keating, 2018). Each participant was instructed to review the ICF prior to consenting. Participants who agreed with the ICF were required to respond to the email with the phrase, "I consent." I asked each participant to maintain a copy of the ICF for transparency and accountability throughout the research. Participants who agreed to participate in this research were volunteering, and there were no monetary incentives offered for their participation. Participants could elect to withdraw before or during the interview by phone, email, or verbally, at which time, I would have destroyed all data

provided by that participant.

Proper protection for each participant is mandatory when conducting research. I followed *the Belmont Report's* protocols and its three principles of (a) beneficence, (b) justice, and (c) respect for persons (see Miracle, 2016). I adhered to the principles as the researcher to maintain professionalism and treat each participant fairly, equally, and respectfully. Researchers must uphold ethical requirements by protecting a participant's privacy and confidentiality. Confidentiality represents a core principle of research ethics and forms a standard practice in social research (Surmiak, 2020). I protected the participants' identities and used defined codes to maintain their confidentiality, replacing their names with a participant code (P for participant) and numbers according to the interview (P1 for the first interview, etc.).

To protect all data, I transferred all hard copies of the research data, transcripts, and any recorded data to an electronic format and stored it on an encrypted USB. All information related to the participants or their organizations participating in the study is protected on an encrypted USB that will be stored in a secure, fireproof safe in my home for a minimum of 5 years to preserve all participants' confidentiality. After 5 years, I will destroy the information by shredding all paper documents and burning the encrypted USB.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument for this qualitative study. Yin (2018) described a qualitative researcher as the primary data collection instrument because they observe, interpret, and record the data. In this study, I employed methodological

triangulation consisting of of two data collection approaches to investigate the topic under study. The primary data source was recorded semistructured interview responses and company documents. A researcher can use several data sources, such as interviews, physical artifacts, direct observations, archival records, and documents, to collect data (Jacobson & Mustafa, 2019; Yin, 2018). Semistructured interviews provide the means of obtaining firsthand information in a timely and resource-efficient manner (Kumar et al., 2018). McIntosh and Morse (2015) posited that asking semistructured interview questions allows for discussion and the use of follow-up questions. To ensure consistency during the interviews, I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) that included semistructured interview questions; follow-up, probing questions; and scripting prior, during, and after the scheduled interviews. The utilization of an interview protocol helped standardize the process to ensure consistency, reliability, and validity of the interview questions (see Schwab & Syed, 2015; Venkatesh et al., 2016.

Reliability and validity can be achieved utilizing an expert panel and member checking. I used member checking to ensure the trustworthiness of the data and to reduce the chances researcher bias reactivity. Trustworthiness in qualitative research is rooted in data adequacy, making it possible to show consistent support for one's analysis across participants. The validity is related to data appropriateness, making it possible to provide an accurate account of participants' experiences within and beyond the immediate context (Spiers et al., 2018). A reliable interview protocol is crucial to obtaining valuable qualitative data (Yeong et al., 2018). Ensuring the reliability and validity of data is vital in qualitative research.

To improve the reliability and validity of my interview protocol, I used my doctoral chair committee as my expert panel before IRB approval to evaluate my interview protocol. Yeong et al. (2018) indicated that expert panels help enhance the predictability and credibility of an interview protocol. Member checking was used to ensure accurate and reliable data was collected during the interview process. I provided each participant with my interpretation of their interview responses following each interview, allowing participants to evaluate my interpretation, identify any areas for corrections, suggest changes, and provide additional insights.

Data Collection Technique

The data collection technique included data from semistructured interviews, and documents. The documents were an interoffice template with pertinent information for the drivers. The pertinent information included pick up location, desired pick update and time, pick up contact name and phone number, description of items being picked up, dimensions and weight, final delivery location, and any special instructions. The combined agreement contract for the moving services and freight billing, was a contract that provided pick up location, delivery location, description of articles being moved, materials being used and the charges per box, consumer protections and/or waivers, issuance of agreement for moving services, and hourly rate. I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) for three participants to guide the interview process. Yin (2018) stated that researchers collect data from the study participants to understand a phenomenon. Researchers conducting interviews are among the most common data collection tools used in qualitative studies (Wilson et al., 2016). Researchers can conduct interviews in

person or by phone.

Because of Covid-19, the interviews were done via phone calls and online via Zoom. I contacted my doctoral committee to act as an expert panel to review my interview protocol. I began the data collection by sending an invitation email to the participants identified through purposive sampling. The email included a brief introductory message and invitation to participate and instructions to review the attached informed consent, which included the (a) purpose of the research, (b) eligibility selection criteria, (c) interview questions, (d) potential audience of the study results, and (e) the participants' rights if participating in the study. The email had a password-protected Zoom teleconference link stating that each interview would last between 30 to 45 minutes. I conducted semistructured interviews, one via zoom and two phone calls with three SMCBOs in Southern California to answer the overarching research question. Participants are more at ease when they can review interview questions beforehand and appropriately respond (Morse, 2015). I asked each participant the same set of questions in the same order. I informed each participant that I would take written notes and ask them if they were ok with me using a mini voice recording device as an alternative. In the end 12 participants did not have the time and were not interested.

I used methodological triangulation and member checking to ensure the trustworthiness, credibility, reliability of the collected data. Members checking is a technique to better the validity of qualitative data by lowering the likeness of participants, responder, and reaction bias (Candela, 2019). I did not conduct a pilot study for this research because of the small size and limited participant pool. Boddy (2016) and Yin

(2018) defined small sample sizes as small as three to six participants used in qualitative studies are best where exploratory or case-based research is conducted. I provided each participant a transcript of my interpretation of their responses to ensure accuracy and conducted follow-up interviews to confirm my interpretation and make any needed modifications.

There are advantages and disadvantages to using semistructured interviews in qualitative research. Iyamu (2018) found that semistructured interviews keep researchers focused on the research topic. Semistructured interviews enabled researchers to learn how individuals and groups act or respond to different circumstances in their environments (Tsang, 2014). Katz (2015) suggested that interactions between a researcher and participants substantially improve explanations of the studied phenomena. The semistructured interviews are flexible and allow extended interaction and various responses, reducing bias risk (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). As the primary data collection instrument, I clarified questions when needed, and participants were able to provide detailed responses.

There are challenges with gathering qualitative data using the semistructured interview technique. Cleary et al. (2014) argued that qualitative studies rely on interactive interview-based, spoken language, clarity, and explicatory in gathering in-depth data. The data collection techniques chosen could have influenced the result by: (a) changing the sequence of interview questions asked by leading the interview's direction or conclusion, and (b) the researcher must clarify the interpretation of the responses to ensure correct understanding (Grossoehme, 2014). I asked the questions in the same sequence for each

participant to not lead the interview's direction or conclusion.

Data Organization Technique

Qualitative researchers must realize that organization and tracking the data is critical to the credibility of the qualitative research. The researcher's responsibility is to store data accurately and securely throughout the data collection process. Data organization techniques can include data storage, data cleaning, and categorization (Chiarini & Brunetti, 2019; Soares et al., 2015). I used a combination of techniques to organize and manage the collected data. I used a field journal to capture (a) information describing each participant, such as P1 for the first participant, P2, etc.; (b) my views of the details of the interview; and (c) any reservations I had regarding the interview, or the data collected. Using a database significantly increases the reliability of the case study (Yin, 2018). I used NVivo 12 an automated qualitative data analysis program (CAQDAS). Nvivo 12 is effective for document and database management because it enables the creation of linkages that simplify data manipulation and make it easier to reshape and reorganize coding and node structure (Min et al., 2017; Zamawe, 2015).

After 5 years from my study's completion date, to satisfy Walden University's requirement, I will destroy raw data collected through shredding. I will use a reputable company's services to destroy physical copies of signed consent forms, audio recordings of interviews, and any documents of evidence received. If required, I will provide a certificate of destruction to participants.

Data Analysis

I used thematic analysis to analyze the data from semistructured interviews. Data

analysis is critical to qualitative research. Yin (2018) indicated that researchers use multiple steps to understand a phenomenon in depth. Thematic analysis is a process for identifying patterns or themes within qualitative data (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). The foundation for thematic analysis is data analysis in a qualitative research study.

Researchers use it to organize, recognize, evaluate, and describe themes identified in a data set (Nowell et al., 2017).

There are six phases associated with thematic analysis. I used the six-phase analysis technique noted by Maguire and Delahunt (2017) to analyze the data. The thematic analysis consists of these six steps: (a) become familiar with the data, (b) generate initial codes, (c) search for themes, (d) review themes, (e) define themes, and (f) write up, which is a practical framework for conducting this kind of analysis. Below are the six steps of the data analysis process.

- 1. I became familiar with the data. Braun and Clarke (2006) declared that researchers read and re-reading the transcripts. I first engaged myself by transcribing each participant's interactions, reading and re-reading transcripts, and listening to the recording. Additionally, I gained a comprehensive understanding by taking notes of the data collected during the interview and the repeated reading of the data helped aid in formal coding process.
- 2. I developed initial codes from the data. I used the research question, conceptual framework, and transcripts and organized the data in a meaningful and systematic way. According to Maguire and Delahunt (2017), this step is when I developed and initiated codes while working through transcripts of the

data collected. Bhalla et al. (2021) declared that researchers could use NVivo software to assist with coding and labeling large amounts of data. I used window NVivo 12 computer software to organize the data interpreted data. I created initial codes by doing the following: (a) I developed initial codes from the research question, literature review, and conceptual framework, and (b) I looked for repetitive terms and meanings in the data using the NVivo 12 software.

- 3. I searched for emerging themes. I reviewed initial codes and grouped them into themes according to similarities. Themes are a pattern that captures something significant or interesting about the data and research question (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Researchers should organize codes into broader themes related to the specific research question (De Klerk & Pretorius, 2019).
 I arranged the coded data into main themes and subthemes.
- 4. I reviewed the themes and generated a thematic map. I checked compositions based on the research question. Some themes were not used due to a lack of data to support the theme (Nowell et al., 2017). The researcher should conduct a final re-read of data into broader themes related to the specific research question (De Klerk & Pretorius, 2019). I arranged the themes into main and subthemes.
- 5. I defined and named themes. I defined and labeled each theme during this phase. Braun and Clarke (2019) stated that a researcher should possess the ability to define what is unique and specific about each theme. I reviewed the

- themes to identify each theme's essence and the relationship between the main and subthemes to determine which one related to my research question.
- 6. I produced the report of the findings of data analysis. After completing all themes and conducting conclusive research (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). I wrote a detailed description of a clear, reasonable, nonrepetitive, and noteworthy account of all the data within and across the themes (Nowell et al., 2017). I organized the data into main themes generated from the reviewed academic literature and conceptual framework to improve the data credibility by showing alignment.

To strengthen the data analysis process, I used methodological triangulation for the company documents received from participants voluntarily. Methodological triangulation is a strategy researchers use to confirm the participants statements with a study (Renz et al., 2018). Joslin and Muller (2016) noted that methodological triangulation could occur when researchers combine two or more data sources to understand the phenomenon in greater depth. Joslin and Muller identified four kinds of triangulation: (a) data triangulation, (b) investigator triangulation, (c) methodological triangulation, and (d) theory triangulation. Methodological triangulation is the most used type of triangulation (Joslin & Muller, 2016). I used methodological triangulation to strengthen the validity of my study. I used semistructured interviews and reviewed company documents to attain methodological triangulation.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are fundamental concepts that establish the rigor and

accuracy of the data. Research must have truth, applicability, consistency, and neutrality (Amankwaa, 2016). Trustworthiness includes credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Connelly, 2016; Stahl & King, 2020). To strengthen the accuracy and quality of the researcher, a researcher must have reliability and validity (Yin, 2018). Monitoring and reporting procedures completely and truthfully can also ensure reliability (Applebaum, 2012; Jackson et al., 2018). Trustworthiness is a critical component of the research process.

Reliability

A quality indicator of reliability is dependability. Reliability in a qualitative study refers to dependability and the repeatability of research procedures (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Yin, 2018). Additionally, a researcher ensures reliability by developing a logical, traceable, and documented process. I was the data collection instrument, maintaining a field journal providing detailed records of the research collection methods, data collection methods, and the data analysis to ensure the findings' quality. Fritz and Vandermause (2018) noted that documented procedures bring reliability to the study. I worked with my doctoral chair committee to evaluate and ensure my data collection instrument is reliable for collecting the data it intends to gather. Yin (2018) described a researcher as the primary data collection instrument because they observe, interpret, and record the data. The data sources were the interview protocol and company documents. The interview questions were the same for all participants to provide a consistent research process (Giorgi, 2009). Implementing interview protocols, member checking, and methodological triangulation were strategies used to support reliability.

Validity

Validation of the researcher interpretations is critical. Validity addresses whether the data collected accurately reflects the researched phenomena (Jordan, 2018). Cypress (2017) noted that rigor in qualitative research is the quality or state of being precise, thorough, and accurate. Credibility, transferability, and confirmability are quality validity indicators (Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I achieved validity by using these indicators and bringing rigor to the study's conclusions.

Credibility

Credibility is the accuracy of a researcher's interpretation of the participant's views. Korstjens and Moser (2018) noted that credibility establishes whether the findings represent the information collected from the participant's original data. Maintaining the same interview protocol throughout the study provides consistency and credibility (Fusch et al., 2018). I used a field journal to keep notes for reflection. I used member checking to establish the credibility by allowing the participants to review my interpretations via email. I asked the participants to provide comments and feedback regarding my interpretation of the interview. I used member checking, field journal, and methodological triangulation to ensure the credibility of my study.

Transferability

Transferability is sharing knowledge. To ensure transferability, I provided detailed descriptions of the research responses, participants, research process, analysis, and results. Transferability relates to the findings' ability to be transferred to another context or setting (Maher et al., 2018). A qualitative study has met this criterion if the

results have meaning to individuals not involved in the study, and readers can associate the results with their own experiences (Cope, 2014). Transferability occurs by providing a thick description that can enable researchers to consider if a transfer to another context is possible (Xerri, 2018). I ensured transferability by translating thick and rich descriptions of the study's finding, research design, participants, data sources, coding of the themes, and analysis.

Confirmability

Confirmability is the process where results can be confirmed or supported by others. Moreover, confirmability is an indication that data and interpretations of the findings are not figments of the inquirer's imagination and getting as close to objective reality as qualitative research can get (Korstjens & Moser, 2017; Tobin & Begley, 2004). There must be some objective reality to subject one's research to auditing. Amankwaa (2016) suggested confirmability includes an audit, audit trail, triangulation, and reflexivity. An audit trail is a transparent description of a researchers' research process to writing the final report. To ensure credibility and accurate interpretations, I used an audit trail, research design, data collection and analysis, data sources, and the findings.

Data Saturation

Data saturation is key to ensuring the validity of qualitative research. Data saturation is when data begins to repeat what has been collected (Saunders et al., 2018). Guest et al. (2020) noted that data saturation might be attained by as little as six interviews depending on the population's sample size. Gentles et al. (2015) discussed a sample size of four to 10 to be appropriate, while Gutterman (2015) noted that as few as

four were relevant. While there was no universal approach to achieving data saturation, researchers agree that no new data, no new themes, no new coding, and the ability to replicate the study are common principles of data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Lowe et al., 2018). Data saturation was achieved when no new themes emerged.

Transition and Summary

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored the effective empowerment strategies small moving company owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years and explain my role as a qualitative researcher. Section 2 included a detailed description of the data collection and data analysis. I discussed sample size and sampling technique and described the interview protocol. I discussed the collecting, managing, storing, and interviewing criteria to ensure alignment with the research question and purpose statement. I discussed member checking to ensure accurate and reliable data were collected during the interview and my role to assure the ethical protection of participants during and after the study. Section 3 I explain the semistructured interviews' findings, including the analysis, discussion of my research findings, detailed discussion on the applicability of the findings to small business owners, the implication for social change, the recommendation for future action, and future research in the areas of leadership and empowerment strategies.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored the effective employee empowerment strategies SMCBOs use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Imran et al. (2016) agreed that business owners who use TL as a management style successfully motivate and empower employees, improve business performance, and contribute to business sustainability. Bonau (2017) concluded that transformational leaders create an environment of commitment and motivation. The participants indicated that they inspire, stimulate, and motivate their followers through a shared vision that raises their employees to desire to do better than average. I conducted Zoom and telephone interviews with three small moving company owners with experience and knowledge related to successfully sustaining their businesses beyond 5 years. Additional data came from reviewing company documents provided by participants included a communication template and a combined agreement contract for the moving services and freight billing. The communication template was an interoffice template with pertinent information for the drivers. The form included fields for pick up location, desired pick update and time, pickup contact name and phone number, description of items being picked up, dimensions and weight, final delivery location, and any special instructions. The combined agreement contract for the moving services and freight billing was a contract. The fields included the pick-up location, delivery location, description of articles being moved, materials being used and the charges per box, consumer protections and waivers, issuance of the

agreement for moving services, and hourly rate. These documents confirmed the SMCBOs' strategies to sustain their business beyond 5 years.

I used a multiple case study design and thematic analysis to analyze participants' feedback, insights, and experiences to determine themes and codes. Data analysis produced the following three themes: (a) leadership styles, (b) management of the business environment, and (c) business owners' knowledge. Section 3 includes a presentation of the findings, application to professional practice, the implications for social change, and my recommendations for action. I conclude Section 3 with my recommendations for further research and personal reflections on my experience with conducting the study.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question for this study was: What effective employee empowerment strategies do SMCBOs use to sustain business beyond 5 years? I conducted semistructured interviews via Zoom and the phone with three SMCBOs in Southern California to answer the overarching research question. To protect each participant's identity, I assigned codes instead of names. The codes for the participants were P1, P2, and P3. The participants provided their strategies, insights, and experiences in response to open-ended questions and explained how they implemented various strategies to sustain the business beyond 5 years. I used Braun and Clark's (2006) six phases of analysis to analyze the data into themes and patterns. NVivo 12 software helped to automate and organize the collected data. After coding and conducting triangulation during the data analysis process, three themes emerged: (a) leadership

styles, (b) business environment, and (c) business owners' knowledge. All three participants discussed and provided insights related to the three themes. I also reviewed company documents received from participants: a communication template and combined agreement contract for moving services and freight billing. The documents confirmed their strategies of business knowledge and management through effective leadership.

Theme 1: Leadership Styles

The first theme that emerged during data analysis was the different leadership styles these owners used and did not realize. Leadership styles play a critical role in small business owners' ability to empower their employees and sustain their businesses.

Thompson et al. (2021) noted that more than 3 decades have passed since Bass (1985) first acknowledged TL. Leadership is a process, although some scholars have indicated that people are born with individual qualities that could help determine which style they use (Bass, 1985). After analyzing the data collected, I identified two subthemes related to leadership styles which are (a) TL leadership and (b) a combination of leadership styles: charisma leadership, servant leadership, and adaptive leadership. Owners acknowledged the significance of adaptation to change to sustain their businesses. Employees view owners as inspiring when they use encouraging language to communicate and, in some cases, hands-on in the "daily grind." The literature review supports the emerging themes and subthemes.

Transformational Leadership

TL is the contrast to transactional leadership, which is strongly associated with top-down power and is a conventional concept for leaders and not enough for organizations that want positive change (Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019). However, TL is a style of leadership that involves a change (Money, 2017). P1 referenced the work ethic difference in previous years compared to current employees. Additionally, P1 acknowledged, "This business is evolving; now, we must be more consistent, organized, and communicate what needs to be done." P3 shared the same sentiments and emphasized that "We all have had to make changes to stay competitive." P2 said, "This industry is not like it used to be years ago when you had a few good local moving companies, and people talked about you to friends and family for jobs." P2 noted that the consequences for missing work were stricter in previous years than in current work environments. P2 was still being challenged with the transactional leadership state of mind. Transformational leaders create valuable and positive change in employees. Farahnak et al. (2020) stated that transformational leaders impact organizational outcomes by influencing employees' behaviors, commitment, and engagement resulting in increased performance. Knowing what it takes to change and adjust to the changes is critical in the small business industry.

The TL themes supports Atwijuka and Caldwell's findings (2017) in concurrence with those of Hunt (2017) who declared that transformational leaders build relationships and earn employees' commitment to create organizations that perform efficiently and effectively to compete against their competitors successfully. Choi et al. (2016), in

agreement with Burns (1978), found a significant relationship between TL and employee empowerment. A transformational leader can positively change the organization and its employees. TL, in various ways, is the contrast to transactional leadership. Some scholars have criticized transactional leadership theory because its focus is generally a one-size-fits-all, universal leadership approach, and it disregards situational and contextual factors relating to organizational challenges (Ghani et al., 2018; McCleskey, 2014). TL is one of the most dominant and debated leadership theories. As previously stated, transactional leadership is typical and based on a conventional exchange relationship in which followers' compliance is exchanged for expected rewards (Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019). In contrast, TL is based on an extraordinary leader raising followers' consciousness levels, providing coaching, mentoring, and achieving positive outcomes. Transformational leaders who inspire their followers use strategies to improve employees' motivation and empowerment.

Combination of Leadership Styles

All participants noted that they had to make changes in their leadership styles. The moving industry has changed, and they had to change to maintain a competitive advantage. A leadership style is a manner and approach to direct and guide employees, implement plans, and motivate and influence people (Al Khajeh, 2018). The first concentrated study of leadership styles was conducted in 1939 by Lewin (Al Khajeh, 2018). P1 evaluated operations year over year by reflecting on "how we see ourselves as the owners/leaders versus how others see us, as it does not match the direction of our goals and vision." P2 has 21 years as an SMBCO, saying "I have had to change my way

of telling to asking and realizing that listening to the needs of my employees benefits my business." P2 endorsed the value of innovation to reduce time and cost. P3 stated,

I make sure that I find time to let our employees know when they are doing the right thing, praising them in front of peers for motivation, and giving them recognition when recognition is due. I make them interested in what they do and make a good team.

Several leadership styles produce results. Transformational leaders empower followers to develop new and unique ways to challenge the status quo and alter the organization to ensure success (Nielsen et al., 2019). The participants' articulation of how they have been addressing the changes in the moving industry and within their businesses emphasized how various leadership styles are being used as strategies. These owners were not aware of the academic terminology. Shao et al. (2016) concurred with Fiol et al. (1999) that there are similarities between the theories of charismatic leadership and TL. According to Shao et al., charismatic leadership is the most critical influence on individual behaviors. P3 stated,

I talk with all my employees to create a friendly environment where, you know, it does not necessarily have to feel like work. It has a feeling more like everyone has a good relationship with one another and good team.

Charisma leadership is a common and shared vision toward the future and is initially labeled as idealized influence (Shao et al., 2016).

Servant leaders begin with the natural feeling of serving first. Jeyaraj and Gandolfi (2019) indicated that servant leadership engages followers in relational, ethical,

emotional, and spiritual dimensions. Eva et al. (2019) concluded that servant leadership empowers followers to reach their full potential. P1 shared,

whenever we start on new jobs, we go over with each driver/worker their roles and expectations. We keep it fresh. Some of our drivers we call "flex drivers" so they are not just drivers, they are willing and able to do a lot more.

The owners who implement a servant leadership strategy motivate employees and increase job satisfaction and empowerment.

Transformational leader understands that they must adapt to change. Adaptive leadership is about how leaders encourage people to adapt to face and deal with problems and challenges as well as to change and grow (Jefferies, 2017). Generally, adaptive leadership is about changing and adjusting to new circumstances (Northouse as cited in Jefferies, 2017). P3 shared, "It is a process everyone must adapt to, you know, how the business is changing. With COVID and all that. We just must adapt." P1 discussed,

we look at do we have the right number of staff, drivers, and workers because we are getting bigger. Lastly, I think this is the basic things of what we have and are doing; being curious, talking with our employees, and being open for feedback is how we will make another 5 years.

This exchange shows the change in owners and is a strategy to continue empowering the employees.

The use of leadership styles as strategies has evolved. Combining various leadership strategies supports Hamilton (2020) who inferred that leaders, both local and worldwide, are in a dilemma incorporating such an enormous change for immediate

effect, having employees, leaders, and owners working with one another more than before and holding shared accountability to success. Charismatic, servant, and adaptive strategies reoccurred in better than half of the responses among the participants. These strategies support Bass's (1985) idea that leaders exhibit behaviors that support and empower employees to increase performance for sustainability. When leaders change, the organization can accomplish more.

Theme 2: Management of the Business Environment

The second theme that emerged during data analysis was business environment management. After analyzing the semistructured interview data, I identified one subtheme related to the management of the business environment: talent. The participants' responses to Interview Questions 3 and 5 posed challenges and additional hiring strategies to recruit talent.

Talent

Each participant was challenged in hiring skilled employees over the past 2 years. According to Mazzei et al. (2016), selective hiring practices focus on the potential employee's ability at the time of hiring. P1 shared, "There is no sense of having all the process and visions, if you do not have the talent to back it." P2 asserted frustration related to the current environment of lack of employees, stating, "You must have the right people; hiring is a mess right now because of this COVID-19." The lack of employees and the impact of COVID-19 have obstructed business for each participant.

P3 implemented a unique hiring technique by integrating other team members in the interviewing process before making a final decision. The new process empowered P3 and staff to hire a diverse team and change hiring and recruiting strategies. As Mazzei et al. (2016) noted, greater autonomy among the team drives success. The document shared from P1 supported the discussion of implementing strategies to enhance the business environment by investing in skilled employees and their overall development, enhancing the business's success.

The subtheme of talent supports Malik et al. (2017) who found that transformational leaders are an example of a leader who can inspire and motivate employees by ensuring they have a clear vision of their goals and the required skills to perform at higher levels. Transformational leaders who inspire their followers use strategies to improve employees' motivation and empowerment. Attracting and retaining skilled people is a recognized determinant of business competitiveness and success (Mazzei et al., 2016). Additionally, Sungu et al. (2019) noted that TL takes an interest in followers' psychological needs, providing personalized career growth support above the contractual leadership style (Bass & Riggio, 2006). Transformational leaders whom followers perceive as kind, respectful, and dignified can expect followers to respond with behaviors aligned with the leader's goal, such as working harder to enhance personal performance for sustainability. The findings of Theme 2 also appear to address the research question.

Theme 3: Owners' Knowledge

The third theme that emerged during data analysis was the years of knowledge these businesses owners had and how they each used it for their success. Data analysis revealed two subthemes to Theme 3: experience and personal change. The participants

discussed their personal experiences and how they had to change to stay competitive and continue sustainability.

Personal Experiences

Business owners' family and work both have their demands and balancing them is challenging. P1 was the youngest of the three SMBCOs. P1 discussed the path leading to being an SMBCO, saying that "The knowledge and experience I gained from the prior years with those companies were second to none." The participant reflected on the values of mentors and leaders as learned experiences. P1 stated, "I recall the feelings I felt when bosses would belittle you to do jobs because it was the way of doing business years ago." Previous leaders of P1 created a poor culture and, as a result, P1 leveraged those experiences to enhance their current workplace environment.

P2 has been an SMBCO for 21 years. While business practices have evolved, employee retention was not an issue. The capability to communicate as the business expanded service areas contributed to an increase in performance. As the COVID-19 pandemic impacted every industry, P2 was not any different and they confronted employee retention challenges. P3 had similar experiences as P2 with great employees and effective teamwork. P3 stated, "You know, it does not necessarily have to feel like work. It must feel more like everyone has a good relationship and good team." While the experiences shared varied by participant, each used a leadership style that increased performance.

The personal experience subtheme supports Tyssen et al. (2014) who argued that TL shapes employee commitment. The TL style has been noted to increase harmony in

the workplace due to its emphasis on cooperation and teamwork (Afsar et al., 2017). Based on responses to follow-up questions and Interview Question 5 regarding additional information you would like to share, each participant spoke of their personal experiences over the years. Interestingly, two of the three participants welcomed change and recalled their times of being employees before becoming owners. The third participant was still somewhat in denial about how the industry has changed and has challenges with making some of the changes, mainly involving computer technology. Zizek et al. (2017) claimed that transformational leaders positively impact employees and organizations; therefore, transformational leaders use the strategy of encouraging and inspiring their followers to improve employees' motivation and empowerment.

Personal Change

Leadership is an essential component of any business, and change is inevitable and challenges leaders and employees to grow. Caulfield and Senger (2017) noted that influential leaders enable followers to understand the reason for the change and see its personal and organizational benefits. P1 shared the significance of cross-department training as the participant implemented a template to be more functional. P1 said, "I implemented a template with all the pertinent information that we need to be functional and gain the success we wanted." The process resulted in cost savings and time reduction. P2's lack of acceptance resulted in dependency on other team members' innovation. P2 expressed, "we still use the original combined agreement for moving service and freight billing. Business partners helped me see the opportunities to strengthen the business by

aligning the operations with new and improved strategies and enrolling in a computer class."

P3 fostered a positive culture resulting in "Handle challenges' just like everyone does. I will say by making sure the good people stay, while the bad guys are not interested in making the team, they are pretty much gone by now."

Each participant acknowledged the requirement of adaptation for operational sustainability. P3 asserted, "If you have a good relationship with your workers, the rest becomes more accessible." Schermerhorn and Bachrach (2015) supported the idea that leaders can alter their leadership style to fit the follower's needs. Paladan (2015) stated that the TL theory is the most well-known leadership theory scholars use to explore strategies and bring positive organizational change. When individuals change, the organization can accomplish more.

The alignment of personal change supports Tobias's (2015) findings that recommended that a leader must articulate what changes are necessary for behavioral change to work. The leader must personally and authentically state the need for change while modeling the desired behavior. Knowing what it takes to change and adapting to change is essential in the small business industry. Therefore, the participant's responses and documentation templates support the transformational leadership theory, the conceptual framework for this study.

Applications to Professional Practice

I explored empowerment strategies and knowledge that small company owners use to sustain business operations beyond 5 years. The research findings include three

significant themes and five subthemes. The applicability of the findings from this study may positively influence small moving company owners seeking empowerment strategies that enable small business success. Owners in the moving industry could benefit from (a) leadership styles, (b) management of the business environment, and (c) business owners' knowledge.

The owners in the study supplied examples of leadership and empowerment strategies. The practical application of the research findings may encourage small moving company business owners to consider the value and benefits of TL and the combination of different leadership styles. Herlina et al. (2019) noted that successful small business owners recognize the need to enhance their knowledge and adapt to change.

Communication between the transformational leader and employees is vital in creating trust and loyalty. With further research on the small moving company businesses, these could be needed qualities to sustain the business beyond 5 years.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change may be accomplished by providing a list of leadership strategies that can be applied to empower and provide opportunities to improve the human and social conditions within the local communities. Social change aims to benefit society more than organizations (Lumpkin et al., 2018). The research findings could help small business owners develop employees and contractors into appreciated citizens of their communities. Identifying and potentially providing a list of leadership strategies could enable small business survival sustainability and benefits

employees and families while providing longevity, local employment, and stable incomes that can catalyze local economic growth.

Recommendations for Action

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore the effective empowerment strategies small moving company owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. The research findings include three significant themes and five subthemes. The participants provided valuable insights into their own experiences with prior bosses, leadership, employee empowerment, communication, and growth. The recommendations for action include small business owners implementing TL and combining different leadership styles. The recommendations are consistent with Imran et al.'s (2016) concepts of TL style for business owners successfully motivating employees, empowering employees, helping improve business performance, and contributing to business sustainability.

Furthermore, small business owners are responsible for a positive work environment and all management activities (William & Aaron, 2018). Finally, I would recommend that the small business owners attend leadership seminars annually to become knowledgeable about leadership styles and the terminology and understand which leadership styles or combination can enhance their communication skills and continue to help sustain the business success. The findings of my study could help persuade new, existing, and those thinking about becoming business owners to act for personal development.

After completing the study, each participant will receive a one-to-two-page summary of findings to support them as leaders. In addition, I plan to attend the National Society of Leadership Success conference to complete my final step, which executive leadership and share my study with classmates and colleagues. This study will be published in the ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database for future use and review.

Recommendations for Further Research

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore the effective empowerment strategies small moving company owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. The findings indicated the leadership strategies essential to succeed within a small business environment. The main limitation of this study was the geographic location and sample size. The study of one geographic area and a small sample size allows researchers to identify and recommend future research topics (Greener, 2018). This research study included three small moving company owners in Southern California. Future research should include a more significant geographic location, increased sample size, diverse industries, and a different conceptual framework and methodology.

There is extensive research on leadership. However, there is little research regarding small moving company owners' leadership strategies for empowering their employees. A future study could focus on the impact of leadership styles among small business owners within the moving industry. Researchers can use quantitative or mixed-method research to identify strategies that advance small business success and sustainability beyond 5 years.

Reflections

The Doctor of Business Administration program at Walden University has been the most challenging experience as an adult. The journey has been overwhelming, frustrating, and stressful. I recall being in one of my residencies, and the professor stated, "life will get in the way on this journey; how will your response?" I was confident in staying the course, but life happened. The loss of my mother, the birth of my grandchild, relocating, my wife's illness was "life experiences" that I endured during my educational career. With unwavering support from family and friends, I was determined to finish. My chair, Dr. Dooley, support has contributed tremendously, coupled with my classmates. We are a family/team.

I began this doctoral program to represent my family proudly. The experience has challenged me beyond measures and enabled me to grow professionally and personally. While I was confident that the path would be leisurely because of my experience in the field, it was the opposite. My doctoral study has enabled me to solve for challenges of SMBCOs and the significance of analysis.

Conclusion

Some SMBCOs lack strategies to effectively operate a business beyond 5 years. This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore strategies that small moving company owners use to sustain business beyond 5 years. The processes used in the data collection included semiconstructed questions, triangulated data, member checking, direct observations using video conferencing, and field journaling. In addition, I incorporated methodological triangulation for validation of the three main themes and

subthemes. The conceptual framework for this study was based on the TL theory by Burns (1978). The conclusions of this study offer insight into multiple strategies that SMBCOs employ to sustain operations. Three main themes and subthemes emerged: (a) leadership styles, (b) management of the business environment, and (c) business owners' knowledge. SMBCOs should evaluate their leadership style to empower employees to contribute to operational sustainment.

Reference

- Afsar, B., Badir, Y. F., Saeed, B. B., & Hafeez, S. (2017). Transformational and transactional leadership and employee's entrepreneurial behavior in knowledge-intensive industries. *The International Journal of Human Resource*Management, 28(2), 307-332. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1244893
- Al-Awlaqi, M. A., Aamer, A. M., Barahma, M. M., & Battour, M. (2021). The interaction between leadership styles and their followers' human capital: A correspondence analysis approach applied to micro-sized businesses. *Journal of Management Development*, 40(1), 74-93. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-05-2019-0172
- Al Khajeh, E. H. (2018). Impact of leadership styles on organizational performance. *Journal of Human Resources Management Research*, 2018, 1-10. https://doi./10.5171/2018.687849
- Allen, G. P., Moore, W. M., Moser, L. R., Neill, K. K., Sambamoorthi, U., & Bell, H. S. (2016). The role of servant leadership and TL in academic pharmacy. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 80(7), 113.
- Alves, A. C., Dinis□Carvalho, J., & Sousa, R. M. (2012). Lean production as promoter of thinkers to achieve companies' agility. *The learning Organization*, *19*(3), *219-237*. https://doi.org/10.1108/09696471211219930
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 23(3), 121-127

- Antonakis, J., & Atwater, L. (2002). Leader distance: A review and a proposed theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *13*(6), 673-704. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(02)00155-8
- Applebaum, M. (2012). Phenomenological psychological research as science. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 36. https://doi.org/10.1163/156916212X632952
- Ardichvili, A., & Manderscheid, S. V. (2008). Emerging practices in leadership development: An introduction. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 10(5), 619-631. https://doi.org/101177/1523422308321718
- Armani, A. B., Petrini, M., & Santos, A. C. (2020). What are the attributes of sustainable leadership? *Revista Brasileira de Gestão de Negócios*, *22*(4), 820-835. https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v.22i4.4086
- Atwijuka, S., & Caldwell, C. (2017). Authentic leadership and the ethic of care. *Journal of Management Development*, 36(8), 1040-1051. http://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-12-2016-0331
- Babones, S. (2016). Interpretive quantitative methods for the social sciences. *Sociology*, *50*(3), 453-469. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038515583637
- Baines, S., & Edwards, J. (2018). A constructivist grounded theory research project studying music therapy as an anti-oppressive practice in long-term and psychiatric residential care. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 60, 1-8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2018.04.003

- Banks, J. A. (2013). The nature of multicultural education. *Multicultural Education: Issues and Perspectives*, 3-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/b0-08-043076-7/02390-1
- Barbuto, J. E., & Burbach, M. E. (2006). The emotional intelligence of transformational leaders: A field study of elected officials. *The Journal of Social**Psychology, 146(1), 51-64. https://doi.org/10.3200/SOCP.146.1.51-64
- Bareil, C., Savoie, A., & Meunier, S. (2007). Patterns of discomfort with organizational change. *Journal of Change Management*, 7(1), 13-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/14697010701232025
- Bass, B. (1978). Managerial work. The Bass handbook of leadership theory, research, and managerial applications (4th ed.). Free Press
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1997). Full range leadership development: Manual for the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire. Mind Garden.
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Free Press
- Bedrule-Grigoruta, M. V. (2017). The determinants of change management in public administration. *Revista Economica*, 69(2).
- Benoit, S., Scherschel, K., Ates, Z., Nasr, L., & Kandampully, J. (2017). Showcasing the diversity of service research. *Journal of Service Management*, 28(5), 810-836 https://doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-05-2017-0102
- Berendt, C. J., Christofi, A., Kasibhatla, K. M., Malindretos, J., & Maruffi, B. (2012).

 TL: Lessons in management for today. *International Business Research*, *5*(10), 227. https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v5n10p227

- Betton, M. E., Branston, J. R., & Tomlinson, P. R. (2021). Owner–manager perceptions of regulation and micro-firm performance: An exploratory view. *Competition & Change*, 25(1), 73-96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1024529420926082
- Bhalla, R., Chowdhary, N., & Ranjan, A. (2021). Spiritual tourism for psychotherapeutic healing post COVID-19. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/10548408.2021.1930630
- Bhamu, J., Khandelwal, A., & Sangwan, K. S. (2013). Lean manufacturing implementation in an automated production line: A case study. *International Journal of Services and Operations Management*, *15*(4), 411-429. https://doi.org/10.1504.IJSOM.2013.054883
- Blom, T. (2018). Organizational wellness: Human reaction to change. *South African Journal of Business Management*, 49(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajbm.v49i1.2
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19, 426-432. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Boiral, O., Baron, C., & Gunnlaugson, O. (2014). Environmental leadership and consciousness development: A case study among Canadian SMEs. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *123*(3), 363-383. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1845-5
- Bonau, S. (2017). How to become an inspirational leader, and what to avoid. *Journal of Management Development*, *36*, 614-625. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-03-2015-0047

- Borsato, E., Zucchinelli, M., D'Ammaro, D., Giubilato, E., Zabeo, A., Criscione, P., Pizzol, L., Cohen, Y., Tarolli, P., Lamastra, L., & Marinello, F. (2020). Use of multiple indicators to compare sustainability performance of organic vs conventional vineyard management. *Science of the Total Environment*, 711, 135081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135081
- Bougie, R., & Sekaran, U. (2016). *Research methods for business: A skill building* (7th ed.). Wiley.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 11(4), 589-597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676x.2019.1628806
- Brett, J., Behfar, K., & Kern, M. C. (2006). Managing multicultural teams. *Harvard Business Review*, 84(11).
- Burnes, B. (2015). Understanding resistance to change–building on Coch and French. *Journal of Change Management*, *15*(2), 92-116. https://doi.org/10.1080.14697017.2014.969755
- Burns, J. M. (1978). *Leadership*. Harper & Row.
- Butt, H. D. (2020). Transformation of leadership styles in Pakistan due to CPEC. *Journal of Political Studies*, 27(2).

- Buziernescu, A. A., & Buziernescu, R. (2020). Analysis of the correlation and economic-mathematical modelling between taxation and sustainable economic growth. *Young Economists Journal/Revista Tinerilor Economisti*, 17(35), 35-43
- Caillier, J. G., & Sa, Y. (2017). Do transformational-oriented leadership and transactional-oriented leadership have an impact on whistle-blowing attitudes? A longitudinal examination conducted in US federal agencies. *Public Management Review*, 19, 406-422. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2016.1177109
- Calopa, M. K. (2017). Business owner and manager's attitudes towards financial decision-making and strategic planning: Evidence from Croatian SMEs. *Management: Journal of Contemporary Management Issues*, 22(1), 103-116. https://doi.org/10.30924/mjcmi/2017.22.1.103
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619-628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Casimir, G., Lee, K., & Loon, M. (2012). Knowledge sharing: Influences of trust, commitment, and cost. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 16(5), 740-753. https://doi.org/10.1108/13673271211262781
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811-830.
- Chen, Y., Ning, R., Yang, T., Feng, S., & Yang, C. (2018). Is transformational leadership always good for employee task performance? Examining curvilinear and moderated relationships. *Frontiers of Business Research in China*, *12*(1), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11782-018-0044-8

- Chen, R., Lee, Y. D., & Wang, C. H. (2020). Total quality management and sustainable competitive advantage: serial mediation of transformational leadership and executive ability. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, *31*(5-6), 451-468. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2018.1476132
- Caulfield, J. L., & Senger, A. (2017). Perception is reality: Change leadership and work engagement. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *38*(7), *927-945*. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-07-2016-0166
- Celeste, L., Baysu, G., Phalet, K., Meeussen, L., & Kende, J. (2019). Can school diversity policies reduce belonging and achievement gaps between minority and majority youth? Multiculturalism, colorblindness, and assimilationism assessed. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *45*(11), 1603-1618. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167219838577
- Ceptureanu, E. G. (2015). Survey regarding resistance to change in Romanian innovative SMEs from it sector. *Journal of Applied Quantitative Methods*, *10*(1), 105-116
- Chapman, M. (2020). Courageous leadership—what defines it in the modern organization. *Strategic HR Review, 19(2), 47-50.* http://doi.org/10.1108SHR-01-2020-0001
- Chanpoom, N., & Intrawong, W. (2019, March). The influence of strategic leadership and organizational climate on organizational commitment of savings cooperative employees, Thailand. In *International academic multidisciplinary research conference in Vienna 2019*.

- Chiarini, A., & Brunetti, F. (2019). What really matters for a successful implementation of Lean production? A multiple linear regression model based on European manufacturing companies. *Production Planning & Control*, *30*(13), 1091-1101.https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2019.1589010
- Cho, J., & Dansereau, F. (2010). Are transformational leaders fair? A multi-level study of TL, justice perceptions, and organizational citizenship behaviors. *The Leadership Ouarterly*, 21(3), 409-421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.03.006
- Choi, S. L., Goh, C. F., Adam, M. B. H., & Tan, O. K. (2016). TL, empowerment, and job satisfaction: The mediating role of employee empowerment. *Human**Resources for Health, 14(1), 73. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-016-0171-2
- Choi, S., & Lee, S. W. (2020). Enhancing teacher self-efficacy in multicultural classrooms and school climate: The role of professional development in multicultural education in the United States and South Korea. *AERA Open*, *6*(4), 2332858420973574. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858420973574
- Chung, D. S., & Li, J. M. (2018). Curvilinear effect of transformational leadership on innovative behavior among R&D teams in South Korea: Moderating role of team learning. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, *34*(1), *252-270*. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-01-2017-0017
- Civitillo, S., Schachner, M., Juang, L., van de Vijver, F. J., Handrick, A., & Noack, P. (2017). Towards a better understanding of cultural diversity approaches at school:

 A multi-informant and mixed-methods study. *Learning, Culture and Social Interaction*, 12, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lcsi.2016.09.002

- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 473-475. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12163
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, *25*(6), 435.
- Cope, D. G. (2014, January). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. In *Oncology Nursing Forum* (Vol. 41, No. 1, pp. 89-91).
- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research:

 Perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *36*(4), 253-263.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.00000000000000253
- Cypress, B. (2018). Qualitative research methods: A phenomenological focus. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *37*(6), 302-309. https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.0000000000000322
- Dan, H. S. (2014). The role of interculturalism in European integration. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai-Studia Europaea*, *59*(2), 131-142.
- Dantsis, T., Loumou, A., & Giourga, C. (2009). Organic agriculture's approach towards sustainability; its relationship with the agro-industrial complex, a case study in Central Macedonia, Greece. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, 22(3), 197-216. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10806-008-9139-0
- David, M. E., David, F. R., & David, F. R. (2017). The quantitative strategic planning matrix: A new marketing tool. *Journal of strategic Marketing*, 25(4), 342-352.

https://doi.org/10.108/0965254X.2016.1148763

- Decker, A., & McGill, M. M. (2019, February). A topical review of evaluation instruments for computing education. In *Proceedings of the 50th ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education* (pp. 558-564).

 https://doi.org/10.1145/3287324.3287393
- De Hoogh, A., den Hartog, D., Koopman, P., Thierry, H., van den Berg, P., van der Weide, J., & Wilderom, C. (2004). Charismatic leadership, environmental dynamism, and performance. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *13*(4), 447-471. https://doi.org/10.1080/13594320444000164
- De Klerk, W., & Pretorius, J. (2019). Guideline for conducting critical reviews in psychology research. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, *29*(6), 645-649. https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2019.1691793
- De Leeuw, E., Green, G., Dyakova, M., Spanswick, L., & Palmer, N. (2015). European Healthy Cities evaluation: Conceptual framework and methodology. *Health Promotion International*, 30(suppl_1), i8-i17.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dav036
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2018). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (5th ed). Sage.
- Devotta, K., Woodhall-Melnik, J., Pedersen, C., Wendaferew, A., Dowbor, T. P.,
 Guilcher, S. J., Hamilton-Wright, S., Ferentzy, P., Hwang, S. W., & Matheson, F.
 I. (2016). Enriching qualitative research by engaging peer interviewers: A case study. *Qualitative Research*, 16(6), 661-

- 680.https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115626244
- Dionne, S. D., Chun, J. U., Hao, C., Serban, A., Yammarino, F. J., & Spangler, W. D. (2012). Article quality and publication impact via levels of analysis incorporation:

 An illustration with transformational/charismatic leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 23(6), 1012-1042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2012.10.003
- DOWLING, R. (2017). Franklin D. Roosevelt: Road to the New Deal, 1882-1939. By Roger Daniels. University of Illinois Press. 2015. xxii + 522pp. \$34.95. *History: The Journal of the Historical Association*, 102(349), 170. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-229X.12348
- Doyle, L., Brady, A. M., & Byrne, G. (2016). An overview of mixed methods research—revisited. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 21(8), 623-635. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987116674257
- Effelsberg, D., Solga, M., & Gurt, J. (2014). Getting followers to transcend their self-interest for the benefit of their company: Testing a core assumption of TL theory.

 Journal of Business and Psychology, 29(1), 131-143.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-013-9305-x
- Ellis, T. J., & Levy, Y. (2009). Towards a guide for novice researchers on research methodology: Review and proposed methods. *Issues in Informing Science & Information Technology*, 6. 323-337. https://doi/10.28945/1062
- Emerson, R. W. (2021). Convenience sampling revisited: Embracing its limitations through thoughtful study design. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, *115*(1), 76-77. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482x20987707

- Engelbrecht, A. S., Heine, G., & Mahembe, B. (2017). Integrity, ethical leadership, trust and work engagement. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2015-0237
- Eva, N., Robin, M., Sendjaya, S., van Dierendonck, D., & Liden, R. C. (2019). Servant leadership: A systematic review and call for future research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 30(1), 111-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.004
- Fairlie, R., & Fossen, F. M. (2021). The early impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on business sales. *Small Business Economics*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-021-00479-4
- Farahnak, L. R., Ehrhart, M. G., Torres, E. M., & Aarons, G. A. (2020). The influence of TL and leader attitudes on subordinate attitudes and implementation success. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, *27*(1), 98-111. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051818824529
- Fiol, C. M., Harris, D., & House, R. (1999). Charismatic leadership: Strategies for effecting social change. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 10(3), 449-482. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(99)00021-1
- Forrest, J., Lean, G., & Dunn, K. (2017). Attitudes of classroom teachers to cultural diversity and multicultural education in Country New South Wales,

 Australia. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(5), 2. https://doi:org/10.14221/ajte.2017v42n5.2

- Fritz, R. L., & Vandermause, R. (2018). Data collection via in-depth email interviewing:

 Lessons from the field. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(10), 1640-1649.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316689067
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416.
- Fuchs, D., Hendricks, E., Walsh, M. E., Fuchs, L. S., Gilbert, J. K., Zhang Tracy, W.,
 Patton, I. S., Davis, P. N., Kim, W., Elleman, A. M., & Peng, P. (2018).
 Evaluating a multidimensional reading comprehension program and reconsidering the lowly reputation of tests of near transfer. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 33(1), 11–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/ldrp.12162
- Galli-Debicella, A. (2020). The efficacy of SBA loans on small firm survival rates. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, *30*(2), 26-34.
- Gathungu, E. W. M., Iravo, M. A., & Namusonge, G. S. (2015). TL and employee's commitment: Empirical review. *Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 20(7), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.9790/0837-20720107
- Gendron, M. (2017). Revisiting diversity: Cultural variation reveals the constructed nature of emotion perception. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *17*, 145-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.07.014
- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(11), 1772-1789.
- Ghani, F. A., Derani, N. E. S., Aznam, N., Mohamad, N., Zakaria, S. A. A., & Toolib, S.

- N. (2018). An empirical investigation of the relationship between transformational, transactional female leadership styles and employee engagement. *Global Business and Management Research*, 10(3), 724.
- Graham, J. W. (1991). Servant-leadership in organizations: Inspirational and moral. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 2(2), 105-119. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(91)90025-W
- Graham, K. A., Ziegert, J. C., & Capitano, J. (2015). The effect of leadership style, framing, and promotion regulatory focus on unethical pro-organizational behavior. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *126*(3), 423-436.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1952-3
- Gray, L. M., Wong-Wylie, G., Rempel, G. R., & Cook, K. (2020). Expanding qualitative research interviewing strategies: Zoom video communications. *The Qualitative Report*, *25*(5), 1292-1301.
- Greenfield, B. H., & Jensen, G. M. (2010). Understanding the lived experiences of patients: Application of a phenomenological approach to ethics. *Physical Therapy*, *90*(8), 1185-1197. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20090348
- Greenleaf, R. K. (1997). Servant leadership: A journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness. Paulist Press.
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20(3), 109-122. https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2014.925660

- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS One*, *15*(5), 1-17

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Guetterman, T. C., & Fetters, M. D. (2018). Two methodological approaches to the integration of mixed methods and case study designs: A systematic review. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(7), 900-918.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218772641
- Hai, M., Latif, S., Bilal, A. R., & Ahmad, B. (2020). Respect: give it to get it! Does leadership complimented with respect can foster creativity? *International Journal of Emerging Markets*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOEM-11-2019-0931
- Hallinger, P., & Suriyankietkaew, S. (2018). Science mapping of the knowledge base on sustainable leadership, 1990–2018. *Sustainability*, *10*(12), 4846. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10124846
- Hambrick, D. C. (2007). Upper echelons theory: An update. Academy of Management Review, 32(2), 334 https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2007.24345254
- Hambrick, D. C., & Mason, P. A. (1984). Upper echelons: The organization as a reflection of its top managers. *Academy of Management Review*, 9(2), 193-206. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1984.4277628
- Hamilton, C. (2020). Senior-level leaders' experiences in using emotional, social, and cognitive intelligences during ethical decision-making (Doctoral dissertation, The Chicago School of Professional Psychology).

- Hayes, J. P., Chawla, S. K., & Kathawala, Y. (2015). A comparative study of problems encountered in the development of small businesses in the US and Mexico. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 49(3), 395-406. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2015.0175
- Heifetz, R. A., Heifetz, R., Grashow, A., & Linsky, M. (2009). The practice of adaptive leadership: Tools and tactics for changing your organization and the world.

 Harvard Business Press.
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. H. (1979). Life cycle theory of leadership. *Training and Development Journal*, 33(6), 94.
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. (1996). Great ideas revisited: Revisiting the life-cycle theory of leadership. *Training & Development*, 50(1), 42-47.
- Hitt, M. A., Haynes, K. T., & Serpa, R. (2010). Strategic leadership for the 21st century. *Business Horizons*, 53, 437-444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2010.05.004
- Ho, J. W., Kuluski, K., & Im, J. (2017). It's a fight to get anything you need- Accessing care in the community from the perspectives of people with multimorbidity. *Health Expectations*, 20(6), 1311-1319.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12571
- Hodges, J., & Howieson, B. (2017). The challenges of leadership in the third sector. *European Management Journal*, *35*(1), 69-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2016.12.006
- Hoeber, L., & Shaw, S. (2017). Contemporary qualitative research methods in sport

- management. *Sport Management Review*, *20*(1), 4-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2016.11.005
- Hollander, E. P., & Julian, J. W. (1969). Contemporary trends in the analysis of leadership processes. *Psychological Bulletin*, 71(5), 387. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0027347
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12-7
- Hughes, D. J., Lee, A., Tian, A. W., Newman, A., & Legood, A. (2018). Leadership,
 creativity, and innovation: A critical review and practical recommendations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(5), 549-569.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.03.001
- Hunt, E. K. (2017). Humane orientation as a moral construct in ethical leadership theories: A comparative analysis of transformational, servant, and authentic leadership in the United States, Mexico, and China. *International Journal on Leadership*, *5*(2), 1.
- Imbeau, L., St-Laurent, M. H., Marzell, L., & Brodeur, V. (2015). Current capacity to conduct ecologically sustainable forest management in northeastern Canada reveals challenges for conservation of biodiversity. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *45*(5), 567-578. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2014-0123
- Imran, M. K., Llyas, M., & Aslam, U. (2016). Organizational learning through TL.

 Learning Organization, 23, 232-248. https://doi.org/10.1108/tlo-09-2015-0053
- Iyamu, T. (2018). Collecting qualitative data for information systems studies: The reality

- in practice. *Education and Information Technologies*, *23*(5), 2249-2264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-9718-2
- Jackson, S. L., Hart, L., & Volkmar, F. R. (2018). Preface: Special issue—College experiences for students with autism spectrum disorder. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3463-7
- Jacobsen, C. B., & Bøgh Andersen, L. (2015). Is leadership in the eye of the beholder? A study of intended and perceived leadership practices and organizational performance. *Public Administration Review*, 75(6), 829-841. http://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12380
- Jacobson, D., & Mustafa, N. (2019). Social identity map: A reflexivity tool for practicing explicit positionality in critical qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, https://doi.org//10.1177/1609406919870075
- Jamali, H. R. (2018). Does research using qualitative methods (grounded theory, ethnography, and phenomenology) have more impact? *Library & Information Science Research*, 40(3-4), 201-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2018.09.002
- Jansen, J. J., Vera, D., & Crossan, M. (2009). Strategic leadership for exploration and exploitation: The moderating role of environmental dynamism. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(1), 5-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.11.008
- Jefferies, S. S. (2017). Adaptive leadership in a socially revolving world: A symbolic interactionist lens of adaptive leadership theory. *Performance Improvement*, 56(9), 46-50. https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21741
- Jeyaraj, J. J., & Gandolfi, F. (2019). Exploring trust, dialogue, and empowerment in

- servant leadership: Insights from critical pedagogy. *Journal of Management Research (09725814)*, *19*(4), 285-290. www.indianjournals.com
- Jiang, W., Zhao, X., & Ni, J. (2017). The impact of TL on employee sustainable performance: The mediating role of organizational citizenship behavior. *Sustainability*, *9*(9), 1567. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9091567
- Johnson, M. (2015). Engaging a multigenerational and multicultural workforce: One style does not suit all. *Plans & Trusts*, *33*(5), 10-15.

 https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=5197&context=dissertations
- Jones, P. R. (2018). Critical analysis of Robert K. Greenleaf's servant leadership: A journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness. *International Journal of Language and Literature*, 6(1), 10-15. https://doi.org/10.15640/ijll.v6n1a2
- Jones-Schenk, J. (2019). 70% failure rate: An imperative for better change management. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 50(4), 148-149.doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20190319-03
- Jordan, K. (2018). Validity, reliability, and the case for participant-centered research:

 Reflections on a multi-platform social media study. *International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction*, *34*(10), 913-921.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2018.1471570
- Judge, T. A., & Piccolo, R. F. (2004). Transformational and transactional leadership: a meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(5), 755. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.5.755

- Kattih, N., Mansour, F., & Mixon, F. G. (2021). Keeping what you like: grandfathering and health insurance coverage take-up rates under the ACA. *Journal of Economics & Finance*, 45(1), 188–199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12197-020-09530-8
- Kemp-Graham, K. Y. (2015). Missed opportunities: Preparing aspiring school leadership for bold social justice school leadership needed for 21st century schools. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 10(1), 99-129.
- Khan, N. (2017). Adaptive or transactional leadership in current higher education: A brief comparison. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed*Learning, 18(3), 178-183. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i3.3294
- Khan, S. N., Abdullah, S. M., Busari, A. H., Mubushar, M., & Khan, I. U. (2019).
 Reversing the lens: The role of followership dimensions in shaping TL behaviour;
 Mediating role of trust in leadership. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-03-2019-0100
- Katz, J. (2015). A theory of qualitative methodology: The social system of analytic fieldwork. *Méthod(e)s: African Review of Social Sciences Methodology*, *1*(1-2), 131-146. https://doi.org/10.1080/23754745.2015.101782
- Khanin, D. (2007). Contrasting Burns and Bass: Does the transactional ☐ transformational paradigm live up to Burns' philosophy of transforming leadership? *Journal of Leadership Studies*, *I*(3), 7-25. https://doi.org/10.1002/jls.20022

- Klein, M. F., & Salk, R. J. (2013). Presidential succession planning: A qualitative study in private higher education. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 20(3), 335-345. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051813483836
- Ko, C., Ma, J., Bartnik, R., Haney, M. H., & Kang, M. (2018). Ethical leadership: An integrative review and future research agenda. *Ethics & Behavior*, 28(2), 104-132. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2017.1318069
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, *24*(1),

 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kumar, P., Bera, S., Dutta, T., & Chakraborty, S. (2018). Auxiliary flexibility in healthcare delivery system: An integrative framework and implications. *Global Journal of Flexible Systems Management*, 19(2), 173-186.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40171-018-0183-y
- Lam, C. S., & O'Higgins, E. R. (2012). Enhancing employee outcomes: The interrelated influences of managers' emotional intelligence and leadership style. *Leadership and Organization Development Journal*, 33(2), 149-174.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/01437731211203465
- Lee, D. A. (2018). Closing the gap and exploring the intersections between internationalization and multiculturalism. *New directions for student leadership*, *2018*(160), 63-73. https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.20311
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Sage.

- Liu, H. (2019). Just the servant: An intersectional critique of servant leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *156*(4), 1099-1112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3633-0
- Los Angeles County.gov. (2020). http://lacounty.gov/business/
- Lubbers, M. J., Verdery, A. M., & Molina, J. L. (2020). Social networks and transnational social fields: A review of quantitative and mixed methods approaches. *International Migration Review*, *54*(1), 177-204. https://doi.org/10.1177/0197918318812343
- Lumpkin, G. T., Bacq, S., & Pidduck, R. J. (2018). Where change happens: Community□ level phenomena in social entrepreneurship research. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 56(1), 24-50. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12379
- Lunenburg, F. C. (2011). Goal-setting theory of motivation. *International Journal of Management, Business, and Administration*, 15(1), 1-6.
- Lynch, B. M. (2015). The role of situational leadership in facilitating culture change in long term care facilities for older people (Doctoral dissertation, Ulster University). https://ethos.bl.uk/orderdetails.do?uin=uk.bl/ethos.669228
- Macke, J., & Genari, D. (2019). Systematic literature review on sustainable human resource management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 208, 806-815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j./jclepro.2018.10.091
- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. *All Ireland Journal of Higher Education*, 9(3), 3351-33514

- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & de Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis: A design research approach to coding combining NVivo

 [™] with traditional material methods. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *17*(1), 1609406918786362. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918786362
- Malik, W. U., Javed, M., & Hassan, S. T. (2017). Influence of TL components on job satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences (PJCSS)*, 11(1), 147-166.
- Maramwidze-Merrison, E. (2016). Innovative methodologies in qualitative research: social media window for accessing organisational elites for interviews. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *14*(2), 157-167.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Sage Publications
- Masocha, R. (2019). Social sustainability practices on small businesses in developing economies: A case of South Africa. *Sustainability*, *11*(12), 3257. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11123257
- Maurer, T. J., & Lord, R. G. (1991). An exploration of cognitive demands in group interaction as a moderator of information processing variables in perceptions of leadership. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 21(10), 821-839. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1991.tb00445.x
- Mazzei, M. J., Flynn, C. B., & Haynie, J. J. (2016). Moving beyond initial success:

 Promoting innovation in small businesses through high-performance work

practices. Business Horizons, 59(1), 51-60.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2015.08.004

- McCann, J., & Sweet, M. (2014). The perceptions of ethical and sustainable leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *121*(3), 373-383. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1704-4
- McCleskey, J. A. (2014). Situational, transformational, and transactional leadership and leadership development. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, *5*(4), 117.
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*(7), 537-542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- McDowell, W. C., Harris, M. L., & Geho, P. R. (2016). Longevity in small business: The effect of maturity on strategic focus and business performance. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(5), 1904-1908.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.10.077
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, *2*, 2333393615597674. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674
- Mclaggan, E., Botha, C. T., & Bezuidenhout, A. (2013). Leadership style and organisational commitment in the mining industry in Mpumalanga. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 11(1), 1-9.
 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v11i1.483

- McWhorter, M. R. (2019). Balancing value bracketing with the integration of moral values in psychotherapy: Evaluation of a clinical practice from the perspective of catholic moral theology. *The Linacre Quarterly*, 86(2–3), 207–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/0024363919856810
- Mehta, M. (2012). Situational leadership and personal effectiveness: Managers in Indian development organizations. *Abhigyan*, *30*(1), 23-35.
- Merlin-Knoblich, C., & Chen, J. A. (2018). A survey of school counselor multicultural education behaviors and the obstacles that impede them. *Journal of School Counseling*, 16(22), 1.
- Min, M., Anderson, J. A., & Chen, M. (2017). What do we know about full-service community schools? Integrative research review with NVivo. *School Community Journal*, *27*(1), 29-54.
- Mittal, S., & Dhar, R. L. (2015). TL and employee creativity: Mediating role of creative self-efficacy and moderating role of knowledge sharing. *Management Decision*, 53, 894-910. https://doi.org/10.1108MD-07-2014-04654
- Miracle, V. A. (2016). The Belmont Report: The triple crown of research ethics. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *35*(4), 223-228. https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.0000000000000186
- Mirvis, P., & Googins, B. (2006). Stages of corporate citizenship. *California Management Review*, 48(2), 104-126. https://doi.org/10.2307/41166340
- Mishra, T., & Jena, L. K. (2020). Virtual workplaces and lean leadership: integrative conceptualization and organizational implications. *Strategic HR Review*, 19(4),

177-181 https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-04-2020-0031

- Mohebbi, M., Dodd, S., Dean, O. M., & Berk, M. (2018). Patient centric measures for a patient centric era: agreement and convergent between ratings on the Patient Global Impression of Improvement (PGI-I) scale and the Clinical Global Impressions–Improvement (CGI-S) scale in bipolar and major depressive disorder. *European Psychiatry*, *53*, 17-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2018.05.006
- Mokhber, M., Khairuzzaman, W., & Vakilbashi, A. (2018). Leadership and innovation:

 The moderator role of organization support for innovative behaviors. *Journal of Management & Organization*, 24(1), 108-128.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/jmo.2017.26
- Money, V. (2017). Effectiveness of TL Style in Secondary Schools in Nigeria. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 8(9), 135-140.
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*(9), 1212-1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection, and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Mubarak, M. F., & Yusoff, W. F. N. (2019). Impact of strategic leadership on strategy implementation. *British Journal of Management and Marketing Studies*, *2*(1), 32-43.

- Murray, A., & Crammond, R. J. (2020). Witnessing entrepreneurial perceptions and proclivity in university students. *Education+ Training*.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ET/03-2019-0052
- Neubert, M. (2016). How and why born global firms differ in their speed of internationalisation-a multiple case study approach. *International Journal of Teaching and Case Studies*, 7(2), 118-134.

 https://doi.org/10.1504/IJTCS.2016.078168
- Newman, A., & Butler, C. (2014). The influence of follower cultural orientation on attitudinal responses towards TL: Evidence from the Chinese hospitality industry.

 *International Journal of Human Resource Management, 25(7), 1024-1045.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2013.815250
- Nielsen, P. A., Boye, S., Holten, A. L., Jacobsen, C. B., & Andersen, L. B. (2019). Are transformational and transactional types of leadership compatible? A two□wave study of employee motivation. *Public Administration*, *97*(2), 413-428. https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12574
- Nohe, C., & Hertel, G. (2017). TL and organizational citizenship behavior: A metaanalytic test of underlying mechanisms. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 1364. https://doi.org/10:3389/fpsyg.2017.01364
- Northouse, P. G. (2016). Leadership: Theory and practice. Sage.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 1609406917733847. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847

- Odierna, D. H., Forsyth, S. R., White, J., & Bero, L. A. (2013). The cycle of bias in health research: A framework and toolbox for critical appraisal training. *Accountability in Research*, 20(2), 127-141. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2013.768931
- O'Leary, B. S., Lindholm, M. L., Whitford, R. A., & Freeman, S. E. (2002). Selecting the best and brightest: Leveraging human capital. *Human Resource Management*, 41(3), 325-340. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.10044
- Oreg, S., Bartunek, J. M., Lee, G., & Do, B. (2018). An affect-based model of recipients' responses to organizational change events. *Academy of Management**Review, 43(1), 65-86. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2014.0335
- Osakwe, C. N., & Anaza, N. A. (2018). Understanding marketing resources and size in agro-based enterprises. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning, 36*(2), 230-244. https://doi.org/10.1108/MIP-07-201-0149
- Ottrey, E., Jong, J., & Porter, J. (2018). Ethnography in nutrition and dietetics research: a systematic review. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *118*(10), 1903-1942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2018.06.002
- Paladan, N. N. (2015). TL: The emerging leadership style of successful entrepreneurs.

 **Journal of Literature and Art Studies, 5, 64–72. https://doi.org/10.17265/2159-5836
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and*

- *Mental Sealth Services Research*, *42*(5), 533-544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Papworth, M. A., Milne, D., & Boak, G. (2009). An exploratory content analysis of situational leadership. *Journal of Management Development*, 28(7), 593-606. https://doi.org/10.1108/02621710910972706
- Park, S., & Lunt, N. (2015, March). Confucianism and qualitative interviewing: Working Seoul to soul. In *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *16*(2). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-16.2.2166
- Passakonjaras, S., & Hartijasti, Y. (2019). Transactional and TL: A study of Indonesian managers. *Management Research Review*. http://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-07-2019-0318
- Perrault, E. K., & Keating, D. M. (2018). Seeking ways to inform the uninformed:

 Improving the informed consent process in online social science research. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, *13*(1), 50-60.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264617738846
- Pfeffer, J. (1977). The ambiguity of leadership. *Academy of Management Review*, 2(1), 104-112. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1977.4409175
- Phipps, K. A., & Burbach, M. E. (2010). Strategic leadership in the nonprofit sector:

 Opportunities for research. *Journal of Behavioral and Applied Management*, 11(2), 137-154.
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Moorman, R. H., & Fetter, R. (1990).

 Transformational leader behaviors and their effects on followers' trust in leader,

- satisfaction, and organizational citizenship behaviors. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *1*(2), 107-142. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(90)90009-7
- Pojasek, R. B. (2010). Sustainability: The three responsibilities. *Environmental Quality Management*, 19(3), 87-94. https://doi.org/10.1002/tqem.20256
- Popli, S., & Rizvi, I. A. (2016). Drivers of employee engagement: The role of leadership style. Global Business Review *17*(4), 965-979. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150916645701
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intramethod approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824-831. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586
- Robert, V., & Vandenberghe, C. (2021). Laissez-faire leadership and affective commitment: The roles of leader-member exchange and subordinate relational self-concept. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *36*(4), 533-551. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-020-09700-9
- Rocco, I., Arandjelović, R., & Sivic, J. (2018). End-to-end weakly-supervised semantic alignment. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition* (pp. 6917-6925). https://doi.org/10.1109CVPR.2018.00723
- Rosales, R., & Whitlow, H. (2019). A component analysis of job interview training for young adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Behavioral Interventions*, *34*(2), 147-162. https://doi.org/10.1002/bin.1658
- Rosenbaum, D., More, E., & Steane, P. (2018). Planned organisational change management: Forward to the past? An exploratory literature reviews. *Journal of*

- Organizational Change Management, 31(2), 286-303. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-06-2015-0089
- Rosenhead, J., Franco, L. A., Grint, K., & Friedland, B. (2019). Complexity theory and leadership practice: A review, a critique, and some recommendations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *30*(5), 101304.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2019.07.002
- Rynes, S. L., & Bartunek, J. M. (2017). Evidence-based management: Foundations, development, controversies, and future. *4*(4), 235–261. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032516-113306
- Sahu, S., Pathardikar, A., & Kumar, A. (2018). TL and turnover: Mediating effects of employee engagement, employer branding, and psychological attachment. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39, 82-99. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-12-2014-0243
- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F. K., Shoghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. A. (2014).

 Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7(1).
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2019). Research methods for business students (8th ed.). Pearson.
- Schwab, J. R., & Syed, M. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and emerging adulthood: Meta-theoretical and methodological issues. *Emerging Adulthood*, *3*(6), 388-399. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167696815587801

- Shao, Z., Feng, Y., Wang, T., & Liu, L. (2016). The impact mechanism of charismatic leadership on individual's tacit knowledge sharing.
 https://aisel.aisnet.org/whiceb2016/7/
- Shepherd, M. L., Harris, M. L., Chung, H., & Himes, E. M. (2014). Using the awareness, desire, knowledge, ability, reinforcement model to build a shared governance culture. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 4(6), 90.

 https://doi.org/10.5430/jnep.v4n6p90
- Shimoni, B. (2017). What is resistance to change? A habitus-oriented approach. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 31(4), 257-270.

 https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2016.0073
- Singh, K. D. (2015). Creating your own qualitative research approach: Selecting, integrating, and operationalizing philosophy, methodology and methods. *Vision*, *19*(2), 132-146. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262915575657
- Soares, D. J. P., Bastos, J., Rodrigues, D. R. G., Pereira, J. P. G. T., & Baptista, A. J. C. (2015). Lean management methods in product development-a case study based on human respect with productivity focus. *International Journal of Lean Enterprise Research*, *1*(4), 393-411. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJLER.2015.076659
- Spears, L. C. (2010). Character and servant leadership: Ten characteristics of effective, caring leaders. *The Journal of Virtues & Leadership*, *I*(1), 25-30.
- Spiers, J., Morse, J. M., Olson, K., Mayan, M., & Barrett, M. (2018).

 Reflection/commentary on a past article: "Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative*

- *Methods*, 17(1), https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918788237
- Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26-29
- Stone, A. G., Russell, R. F., & Patterson, K. (2004). Transformational versus servant leadership: A difference in leader focus. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/01437730410538671
- Stouten, J., Rousseau, D. M., & De Cremer, D. (2018). Successful organizational change:

 Integrating the management practice and scholarly literatures. *Academy of Management Annals*, 12(2), 752-788. https://doi.org/10.5465/annals.2016.0095
- Sungu, L. J., Weng, Q., & Xu, X. (2019). Organizational commitment and job performance: Examining the moderating roles of occupational commitment and TL. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 27(3), 280-290.
- Surmiak, A. (2020). Should we maintain or break confidentiality? The choices made by social researchers in the context of law violation and harm. *Journal of Academic Ethics*, 18(3), 229-247. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10805-019-09336-2
- Takeuchi, R., Chen, G., & Lepak, D. P. (2009). Through the looking glass of a social system: Cross-level effects of high-performance work system on employees' attitudes. *Personnel Psychology*, 62(1), 1-29. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2008.01127.x

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2019). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-162. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thompson, G., Buch, R., Thompson, P. M. M., & Glasø, L. (2021). The impact of TL and interactional justice on follower performance and organizational commitment in a business context. *Journal of General Management*, *46*(4), 274-283. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306307020984579
- Tobias, R. M. (2015). Why do so many organizational change efforts fail? *The Public Manager*, 44(1), 35.
- Tokbaeva, D. (2021). The rise and fading away of charisma. Leadership transition and managerial ethics in the post-soviet media holdings. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 174(4), 847-860. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-021-04923-z
- Tsang, E. W. (2014). Generalizing from research findings: The merits of case studies. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, *16*(4), 369-383. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12024
- Turner, S., & Endres, A. (2017). Strategies for enhancing small business owners' success rates. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, *16*(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.03
- Turyakira, P., Venter, E., & Smith, E. (2014). The impact of corporate social responsibility factors on the competitiveness of small and medium-sized enterprises. *South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences*, *17*(2), 157-172. https://hdl.handle.net/10520/EJC149998

- Tyssen, A. K., Wald, A., & Spieth, P. (2014). The challenge of transactional and TL in projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, *32*(3), 365-375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2013.05.010
- Ucar, R., & Dalgic, S. (2021). Relationship between school principals' strategic leadership characteristics and schoolteachers' organizational commitment levels. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, *91*, 105-126. https://.doi.org/10.14689/ejer.2021.91.6
- Umble, M. I. C. H. A. E. L., & Umble, E. (2014). Overcoming resistance to change. *Industrial Management*, *56*(1), 16-21.
- U. S. Census Bureau. (2018). *Geographic mobility*: 2017 to 2018.

 https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2018/demo/geographic-mobility/cps-2018.html
- U. S. Census Bureau. (2020). *Geographic mobility*: 2019 to 2020.
 https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2020/demo/geographic-mobility/cps-2020.html
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2013) National commission for the protection of human subjects of biomedical and behavioral research. (1979). The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research, 45.
- U. S. Small Business Administration. (2018). "Frequently asked questions about small business." https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/FAQ_August2018

- U. S. Small Business Administration. (2019). What's New with Small Business?

 http://www.sba.gov/advocacy
- U. S. Small Business Administration. (2020). *Office of Advocacy-Frequently asked Questions*. http://www.sba.gov/advocacy.
- Van Dierendonck, D., & Nuijten, I. (2011). The servant leadership survey: Development and validation of a multidimensional measure. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 26(3), 249-267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-010-9194-1
- Van Dierendonck, D., Stam, D., Boersma, P., De Windt, N., & Alkema, J. (2014). Same difference? Exploring the differential mechanisms linking servant leadership and TL to follower outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *25*(3), 544-562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.014
- Van Woerkom, M., & De Reuver, R. S. (2009). Predicting excellent management performance in an intercultural context: A study of the influence of multicultural personality on TL and performance. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 20(10), 2013-2029. https://doi.org/10.1080/095851909903175589
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Sullivan, Y. W. (2016). Guidelines for conducting mixed-methods research: An extension and illustration. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 17(7), 2. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00433
- Venters, C. C., Capilla, R., Betz, S., Penzenstadler, B., Crick, T., Crouch, S., Nakagawa, E, Y., Becker, C., & Carrillo, C. (2018). Software sustainability: Research and

- practice from a software architecture viewpoint. *Journal of Systems and Software*, *138*, 174-188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2017.12.026
- Vervaet, R., Van Houtte, M., & Stevens, P. A. (2018). Multicultural school leadership, multicultural teacher culture and the ethnic prejudice of Flemish pupils. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 76, 68-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.08.009
- Viitala, R., Kultalahti, S., & Kangas, H. (2017). Does strategic leadership development feature in managers' responses to future HRM challenges? *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 38(4), 576-587.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-02-2016-0035
- Wasim, A., & Imran, A. (2010). The role of leadership in organizational change. *Relating* the Successful Organizational Change to Visionary and Innovative leadership, 3(2), 9.
- Wertz, F. J. (2010). Giorgi, A. (2009). The descriptive phenomenological method in psychology: A modified Husserlian approach. Pittsburgh, PA: Duquesne University Press, 233 pp., ISBN 978-0-8207-0418-0, \$25.00 (paper). *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 41(2), 269–276.
 https://doi.org/10.1163/156916210X526079
- Whiting, G. W., & Ford, D. Y. (2009). Multicultural issues: Black students and advanced placement classes: Summary, concerns, and recommendations. *Gifted Child Today*, 32(1), 23-26. https://doi.org/10.4219/gct-2009-840
- Williams, R., & Aaron, J. (2018). Specialization as a small business strategic approach. *Small Business Institute Journal (SBIJ)*, 14(2), 1-15

- Wilson, A. D., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Manning, L. P. (2016). Using paired depth interviews to collect qualitative data. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(9), 1549. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss9/1
- Wong, A., Liu, Y., Wang, X., & Tjosvold, D. (2018). Servant leadership for team conflict management, co□ordination, and customer relationships. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, *56*(2), 238-259. https://doi.org/10.1111/1744-7941.12135
- Wright, E. S. (2017). Dialogic development in the situational leadership style. *Performance Improvement*, *56*(9), 27-31. https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21733
- Xerri, D. (2018). Two methodological challenges for teacher-researchers: Reflexivity and trustworthiness. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 91(1), 37-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2017.1371549
- Xu, G. Y., & Wang, Z. S. (2008, September). The impact of TL style on organizational performance: The intermediary effects of leader-member exchange. In 2008

 International Conference on Management Science and Engineering 15th Annual Conference Proceedings (pp. 1090-1097). IEEE.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/ICMSE.2008.4669047
- Xu, X., Jiang, L., Hong, P. Y., & Roche, M. (2021). Will mindful employees benefit from positive work reflection triggered by TL? A two-study examination. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 28(1), 61. https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000222
- Yates, J., & Leggett, T. (2016). Qualitative research: An introduction. *Radiologic Technology*, 88(2), 225-231.

- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134-152.
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, *23*(11), 2700-2713. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/7.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Yuan, C. K., & Lee, C. Y. (2011). Exploration of a construct model linking leadership types, organization culture, employee's performance, and leadership performance. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 25, 123-136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j/sbspro.2011.10.534
- Yukl, G., & Mahsud, R. (2010). Why flexible and adaptive leadership is essential. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 62(2), 81. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019835
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo TM software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, *27*(1), 13-15. https://doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v27i1.4
- Zhou, Y., Zheng, H., Liang, Y., Wang, J., Han, R., & Liu, Z. (2020). Joint developmental trajectories of bullying and victimization from childhood to adolescence: A parallel-process latent class growth analysis. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 0886260520933054. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520933054

Žižek, S. Š., Mulej, M., & Čič, Ž. V. (2017). Results of socially responsible TL:

Increased holism and success. Kybernetes, 46(3), 400-418.

https://doi.org/10.1108/K-06-2016-0129

Appendix: Interview Protocol for Small Business Moving Owners

Research Question: What are the empowerment strategies that small moving company owners use to sustain business beyond five years?

I will contact my doctoral committee to act as an expert panel to review my interview protocol.

Upon receiving the Informed Consent Form by email or mail, I will email participants to obtain a convenient scheduled time for a Zoom interview.

Once received, I will email a meeting request for the agreed-upon time, include the zoom link, and ask the participants to find a private location to connect via zoom.

Contact participants by phone to confirm receipt of the email with the zoom link.

I will join the zoom meeting at least 15 minutes before the start of the interview.

Once connected with the participant, I will welcome and introduce myself and provide a brief recap:

Good morning/afternoon, Mr./Ms. XXX, thank you for taking the time to discuss this with me. The purpose of this study is to explore the empowerment strategies owners use to sustain their business beyond five years. Thank you for your participation. Your participation today should take no longer than 45-60 minutes. Please be reminded that I will be using a mini record for accuracy and ultimately capture your responses in addition to the Zoom recording. Thank you for reviewing and completing the informed consent form emailed to you on xxx date. Do you have your copy? Do you have any questions about the form? After today's interview, together, we will schedule a follow-up meeting to review my interpretation of your interview responses. This is to ensure that I accurately represent your experiences. During the follow-up interview, you will also be allowed to address any inaccuracies and include other necessary information. You are free to withdraw your participation from the interview if at any time you wish to do so. Before we begin, do you have any concerns about the process?

Interview Questions: I will ask the question and probing questions that develop or are needed to clarify the responses.

- 1) What strategies have you used to sustain this business beyond five years?
- 2) What strategy has given you the best results?
- 3) How did you overcome critical challenges in the implementation of these strategies?
- 4) How do you handle the current regulations and challenges to continue sustaining your business?

5) What additional information would you like to share about the strategies you used to sustain this business beyond five years?

Wrap-up Interview: thank you for your participation in this interview session. All information obtained is confidential. Once I have transcribed our conversation, I will reach out to you via email to review the transcript for clarity, accuracy, and or confirmation of the information provided. Can we schedule our follow-up interview now? I will provide you with my transcript 48 hours in advance of our meeting for your review.